



# CITIC 21CN COMPANY LIMITED (Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

## **Contents**

- 2 Corporate Information
- 4 Chairman's Statement
- 5 Management Discussion and Analysis
- 11 Report of the Directors
- 23 The Biographical Information of Directors
- **25** Report of the Auditors
- 26 Consolidated Profit and Loss Account
- 27 Consolidated Balance Sheet
- 28 Balance Sheet
- 29 Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
- 30 Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
- 31 Notes to the Accounts
- 74 Financial Summary

## **Corporate Information**

#### **Board of Directors**

**Executive Directors** WANG Jun (Chairman)

CHEN Xiao Ying (Executive Vice Chairman)

LUO Ning (Vice Chairman)

SUN Yalei

ZHANG Lian Yang

YIN Yiping
XIA Guilan
LIU Xiaoping

Independent Non-executiveTSUI Yiu Wa, AlecDirectors and Members ofZHANG Jian Ming

Audit Committee LIU Hongru

Company Secretary TIN Ding Hong William, FCGA, FCPA

Qualified Accountant CHUNG Yau Tong, ACCA, CPA

Authorised Representatives CHEN Xiao Ying

TIN Ding Hong William, FCGA, FCPA

Registered Office Canon's Court

22 Victoria Street Hamilton HM 12

Bermuda

Principal Place of Business Room 6208 Central Plaza

18 Harbour Road

Wanchai Hong Kong

Stock Code 241

#### Legal Advisors

Hong Kong David Lo & Partners

Bermuda Appleby Spurling Hunter

**Auditors** PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

Principal Share Registrar Reid Management Limited

and Transfer Office Argyle House, 41A Cedar Avenue

Hamilton HM 12

Bermuda

Hong Kong Branch Registrar Secretaries Limited

and Transfer Office G/F, Bank of East Asia

Harbour View Centre 56 Gloucester Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

Principal Bankers CITIC Ka Wah Bank Limited

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited Bank of China (Hong Kong)

### **Chairman's Statement**

CITIC 21CN COMPANY LIMITED ("CITIC 21CN" or the "Company") is one of the largest providers of telecommunications/information value-added services ("Telecom VAS") in China, offering governmental, entertainment, financial and commercial information services nationwide through multiple channels including short messages services ("SMS"), interactive voice response system ("IVRS"), call centres and internet. CITIC 21CN has been growing rapidly over the past two years and has obtained outstanding achievements.

In China, there are over 330 million mobile phone owners and 310 million fixed-line phone users. The penetration rate is, however, low compared with international telecom penetration rate. Therefore, in the foreseeable future, the telecom market in China will be enormous and filled with business potentials.

With tremendous support from the CITIC Group, CITIC 21CN's business has been growing steadily. CITIC 21CN is the pioneer to obtain full qualifications from both Hong Kong and Beijing to invest in and operate Telecom VAS in China nationwide under the Closer Economic Partnership Arrangement (CEPA). Through "HL95", "Dongfang Customs Technology" and "CITIC QSIT", CITIC 21CN has expanded its business coverage within two years from information platform for general public use to more dedicated telecom platforms for transactions and information flow involving governmental agencies and enterprises. It also enables people from all walks of life in China to improve their quality of life and business by utilizing telecommunications technology and information flow.

CITIC 21CN's management, with their exceptional business vision and intelligence, has been providing governmental, commercial, product authentication and entertainment services to the Chinese people through their use of leading edge technology and experience in Telecom VAS. Telecom VAS sector is just in its early stage of unfolding and will substantially change the way of how people live and entertain themselves in China. This is a business created for the benefit of our country and our people. Therefore, CITIC 21CN's businesses are not merely commercial, but also meaningful in benefiting our generation and the next generation, conforming to the corporate goal of CITIC 21CN – to strive for people's well-being and creating wealth for shareholders. I am confident that CITIC 21CN will succeed in the near future and our business will flourish, so that consumers and enterprises in China can benefit from the latest telecommunications technology.

On behalf of the directors of the Company (the "Directors"), I would like to take this opportunity to express my sincere gratitude to all our shareholders for their continuous support. I would also like to thank our management and staff for their continuing commitment and contribution to our development. Looking forward, we will seize every opportunity to strengthen our market position to create promising returns for our shareholders.

#### Wang Jun

Chairman

Hong Kong, 4th July 2005

## **Management Discussion and Analysis**

#### **Financial review**

#### Results

Turnover of the Company and its subsidiaries (the "Group") for the year surged substantially from HK\$163,947,000 to HK\$249,058,000 which represents an increase of 52% as compared with the previous year. The significant increase for the current year is mainly due to the full year revenue contribution from 北京鴻聯九五 訊息產業有限公司(Beijing Honglian 95 Information Industries Company Limited\*) ("HL95")'s Telecom VAS business whereas HL95 only provided 1.5 months of turnover in the previous year since the Group acquired 45% of HL95 in February 2004 and an additional 4% of HL95 in June 2004. A substantial portion of the Group's turnover for the current year was due to its proportionate share of turnover of HL95's Telecom VAS business which amounts to HK\$189,767,000 (2004: HK\$24,493,000).

The Group recorded an operating profit of HK\$34,711,000 for the year as opposed to an operating loss of HK\$800,000 last year. The Group has also turned around from a net loss of HK\$2,035,000 to a net profit attributable to shareholders of HK\$25,420,000 in the current year. The operating profit for the current year was mainly attributable to:

- (1) contribution of HK\$25,358,000 operating profit from HL95;
- (2) recovery of HK\$10,000,000, being a debt which was previously fully provided for;
- (3) write back of certain long outstanding payables of HK\$6,775,000;
- (4) negative goodwill of HK\$20,403,000 arising mainly from the acquisition of 30% equity interest of 東方口岸 科技有限公司(Dongfang Customs Technology Company Limited\*) ("Dongfang Customs Technology") and acquisition of additional interest in HL95; and
- (5) gain on disposal of certain subsidiaries to third parties amounting to HK\$13,103,000.

#### Significant investments and capital expenditures

In June 2004, approval from relevant government authorities on the acquisition of an additional 4% of HL95 was obtained and HK\$3,028,000 was paid for such acquisition. As a result, the Group's equity interest in HL95 increased from 45% to 49% during the year.

On 20th September 2004, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement with its substantial shareholder, CITIC Group, where the Group would acquire 30% equity interest in Dongfang Customs Technology from the CITIC Group. The acquisition was completed on 31st March 2005 and the consideration amounted to RMB59,806,211 (equivalent to approximately HK\$56,636,000) which was settled in cash upon completion.

<sup>\*</sup> for identification purposes only

#### Financial review (Continued)

#### Significant investments and capital expenditures (Continued)

An agreement was entered into on 20th January 2005 to establish a joint venture company, 中信國檢信息技術有限公司(CITIC Quality Supervision Information Technology Company Limited\*) ("CITIC QSIT") of which the Group will have 50% equity interest, 中華人民共和國國家質量監督檢驗檢疫總局信息中心(Information Centre of the General Administration of Quality Supervision, Inspection and Quarantine of the PRC\*) ("AQSIQ") will have a 30% equity interest, and 中國電信集團公司 (China Telecommunications Corporation\*) ("China Telecom") will have a 20% equity interest. In accordance with the joint venture agreement, the total investment in CITIC QSIT is RMB150,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK\$141,509,000). The registered capital is RMB60,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK\$56,604,000), of which RMB30,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK\$28,302,000) has been contributed by the Group, as at 31st March, 2005. The Group has also agreed to advance to CITIC QSIT RMB18,000,000 on behalf of AQSIQ which represents AQSIQ's capital contribution in view of the importance to the operation of CITIC QSIT. As of 31st March 2005, the advance on behalf of AQSIQ has not yet been made.

#### Liquidity, Financial Resources and Foreign Exchange Exposures

The total assets of the Group as at 31st March 2005 was HK\$449,146,000 which was financed by shareholders' fund of HK\$308,787,000, current liabilities of HK\$133,065,000 and minority interest of HK\$7,294,000. The current ratio of the Group as at 31st March 2005 was 2.3.

The outstanding bank loans of the Group amounted to HK\$11,583,000 as at 31st March 2005 which were repayable within one year and carries interest at prevailing market rate. All bank loans are denominated in Renminbi, of which HK\$3,956,000 related to the operation of the system integration business and was secured by bank deposits of HK\$5,000,000, and the remaining balance of HK\$7,627,000 related to the portion of loan attributable to the Group in HL95, a jointly controlled entity, which was guaranteed by the major shareholder of HL95. The gearing ratio, calculated as the interest-bearing bank borrowings over the shareholders' funds, was only 3.75%.

At 31st March 2005, bank deposits of HK\$6,057,000 are restricted, of which HK\$5,000,000 has been pledged as security for a short term bank loan and is not classified as a non-current asset and the remaining balance of HK\$1,057,000 is included in non-current assets.

In February 2005, the Company successfully raised funds by way of rights issue of warrants at a subscription price of HK\$0.10 per warrant on the basis of one warrant for every six shares of HK\$0.10 each in the share capital of the Company ("Shares"). A total of 550,697,664 warrants were subscribed and an aggregate subscription sum of HK\$55,069,766 was received. Each warrant can be converted into one Share at an exercise price of HK\$2.40. The warrants are exercisable within 18 months from the date of issue. If all warrants are exercised within 18 months, the Company will receive approximately HK\$1,321,674,000 from the issue of new Shares of the Company.

\* for identification purposes only

#### Financial review (Continued)

#### Liquidity, Financial Resources and Foreign Exchange Exposures (Continued)

The Group's operation and transactions are principally located in the People's Republic of China (the "PRC") and all assets and liabilities are mainly denominated either in Hong Kong dollars or Renminbi. The Directors believe that the exchange rate for Renminbi is likely to be stable for the foreseeable future and the operations of the Group are not subject to significant exchange risk.

#### **Contingent Liabilities**

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31st March 2005.

#### **Business Review**

#### Telecom VAS business

The Group's results from Telecom VAS business are derived from the investment in a 49% jointly controlled entity, HL95. HL95 is one of the leading nationwide Telecom VAS companies in the PRC, with prominent brand name and nationwide coverage. HL95 provides fixed line and mobile phone users in the PRC with the largest IVRS and SMS coverage, offering governmental, commercial and entertainment contents.

The turnover of HL95 for the current year was HK\$403,307,000 (for the period from 11th February to 31st March 2004: HK\$55,522,000) and the Group's proportional share was HK\$189,767,000 (for the period from 11th February to 31st March 2004: HK\$24,493,000). The Group's share of HL95's turnover increased in the current year because of the full year consolidation of HL95 in the current year, whereas in the previous year the Group's turnover only included 1.5 months of HL95's turnover.

The turnover of HL95 can be analysed as approximately 38% (2004: 43%) from IVRS, 34% (2004: 44%) from SMS, 12% (2004: 10%) from Internet-protocol phone, 14% (2004: 2%) from call centres and 2% (2004: 1%) from other operations. As compared with the turnover in the previous year, turnover from IVRS and SMS showed a drop of 5% and 10% respectively. Such drop was mainly due to actions taken by telecommunications service operators to tighten the industry regulations during the current year. Such actions caused certain negative impact in the industry and as a result hindered the development and growth of the SMS and IVRS business of HL95 in the current year. However, the Group believes that such regulatory measures have long-term positive impact to HL95 and the industry as a whole.

Net profit of HL95 for the current year was HK\$35,845,000 (for the period from 11th February to 31st March 2004: HK\$4,671,000) and the Group's proportionate share was HK\$16,998,000 (for the period from 11th February to 31st March 2004: HK\$2,102,000). In the current year, HL95 expanded its product range to Telecom VAS services that contribute higher margins such as Information Processing Centre, a call center service established in Beijing in early 2004.

#### **Business Review** (Continued)

#### Telecom VAS business (Continued)

As HL95 has already set up a nationwide network with coverage to over 300 cities, and with its nationwide uniform access number for both fixed line and mobile phones, HL95 has strengthened its role as a Telecom VAS provider which will support the Group in its future development.

#### **Dongfang Customs Technology**

Dongfang Customs Technology provides the platform for import and export enterprises, manufacturers and trading companies in the PRC with electronic customs processing, other electronic government services and electronic commerce transactions capability, as well as identifying authenticity, online payments and billing services. The shareholders of Dongfang Customs Technology comprise 中國電子口岸數據中心(China Electronic Customs Data Centre\*) which is an organization directly under the PRC Customs, China Telecom and the Group. Dongfang Customs Technology is the only operator in China providing the access platform for electronic customs clearance and processing services in the PRC. Using this advanced technology, enterprises in the PRC can save time in customs processing so that business transactions will be more interactive, accurate and timely, enhancing import and export efficiency.

Dongfang Customs Technology recorded revenue of RMB92,166,265 and net profit of RMB56,771,352 for the 15 months ended 31st March 2005. However, the necessary approvals for the acquisition of the 30% of Dongfang Customs Technology were completed on 31st March 2005. Accordingly, the results of Dongfang Customs Technology have not been incorporated into the Group's results for the year ended 31st March 2005. The Group has early adopted new or revised HKAS 36 and 38 and HKFRS 3 in the preparation of financial statements for the year ended 31st March 2005 which result in a change of accounting policy for goodwill recognition. As of the completion date of the acquisition, the fair value of net assets of Dongfang Customs Technology was ascertained at HK\$255,201,000 by reference to valuation reports issued by professional valuer, Sallmanns, resulting in a negative goodwill on acquisition of HK\$19,215,000 being recorded as other revenue.

The Group anticipates that the number of users will increase in line with the economic growth of the PRC. The number of customers increased from approximately 130,000 as at 31st March 2004 to about 200,000 as at 31st March 2005. The Group is optimistic that the number of users of Dongfang Customs Technology will continue to grow since there is no other operator for electronic customs clearance and processing in the PRC.

<sup>\*</sup> for identification purposes only

#### **Business Review** (Continued)

#### System Integration and Software Development

廣東天圖科技有限公司 (Guangdong Tian Tu Technology Co. Ltd.\*) ("Tian Tu") is one of the subsidiaries of the Company engaged in the system integration and software development business in the PRC. The revenue derived from the sale of computer products, provision of system integration services and software development business for the current year was HK\$59,291,000 (2004: HK\$137,228,000) and the attributable profit for the year was HK\$939,000 (2004: HK\$1,433,000). The decrease in turnover for the current year was mainly attributable to the severe competition in the system integration business resulting in lower profit margins. As a result, the management decided to focus more on the software development and technical support services. The management also plans to utilize the technical expertise of Tian Tu to provide service to other business units of the Group.

#### **Prospect and Outlook**

As a pioneer in the Telecom VAS in the PRC, the Group will strive to develop more information value added services in cooperation with governmental agencies to provide service to businesses in the PRC.

HL95, with its enormous nationwide network distribution coverage, provides the platform for consumers all over the PRC to access Telecom VAS provided by the Group easily. Since many consumers across the PRC are already using HL95's various Telecom VAS, it provides a scalable platform for the Group to launch other information and Telecom VAS.

Dongfang Customs Technology is the only operator in the PRC which provides electronic customs clearance and processing services. The Group's investment in Dongfang Customs Technology allows it to expand into other information and Telecom VAS.

On 20th January 2005, the Group entered into a joint venture agreement to establish CITIC QSIT with AQSIQ and China Telecommunications Corporation where the Group has an equity interest of 50%. The objective for the formation of CITIC QSIT is to provide a system to identify, authenticate and track products manufactured in the PRC through the operation of the Quality Supervision Platform ("QSP") in order to reduce the impact of forged products and provide logistic and supply chain management services. QSP is the only product identification, authentication and tracking platform in the PRC that cooperates with the government authority AQSIQ. AQSIQ is the central government department responsible for the administration, supervision and enforcement of laws to tackle manufacturers of forged products. Every product passing through QSP will be allocated a unique code that stores information of a product's specifications, logistics and distribution details. A consumer who has doubts about a product can check whether the product is genuine or not by accessing the QSP through various telecom channels such as mobile phone, fixed-line phone, internet or enquiry terminals at shopping centres. The commercial launch of the services of QSP is expected to begin in the second half of 2005.

<sup>\*</sup> for identification purposes only

#### **Prospect and Outlook** (Continued)

With Dongfang Customs Technology, the access point of the "China Electronic Customs", and QSP, which can access the databank on products manufactured in the PRC, the Group will further strengthen its position in information and Telecom VAS platform for business and government applications.

The Group also plans to participate in the PRC's national project to digitalize all television broadcasting in the PRC by year 2010. The Group has announced its intention to establish a joint venture with Hebei Board of Radio and Television to provide various digital media-related services on an exclusive basis. The Group plans to expand the scope of such business to other provinces in the future if appropriate.

#### **Human Resources**

As at 31st March 2005, the Group employed a total of 67 full-time employees, of whom 13 were based in Hong Kong and 54 were based in mainland China. Total staff costs for the year amounted to HK\$52,160,000 of which HK\$33,316,000 was attributable to the jointly controlled entity. The Group's policy is to maintain a competitive pay structure and employees are rewarded on a performance related basis.

The Group has also set up share option schemes pursuant to which employees of the Group may be granted options to subscribe for the Company's shares at their absolute discretion. The subscription price, exercise period and the number of options to be granted are determined in accordance with the prescribed terms of the schemes. During the year, a total of 73,300,000 share options were granted to a director and employees and other eligible persons.

### **Report of the Directors**

The Directors submit their report together with the audited accounts of the Group for the year ended 31st March 2005.

#### **Principal activities**

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the Group are Telecom VAS, operation of a platform for electronic customs processing and system integration and software development.

An analysis of the Group's performance for the year by business segments is set out in note 2 to the accounts. All business segments are primarily carried out in the PRC, accordingly, a separate summary by geographical segments is not presented.

#### **Results and appropriations**

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated profit and loss account on page 26 of this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend.

#### **Reserves**

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the year are set out in note 24 to the accounts.

#### Property, plant and equipment

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in note 12 to the accounts.

#### **Share capital**

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set out in note 23 to the accounts.

No pre-emptive rights exist under Bermuda law in relation to issue of new shares by the Company.

#### **Borrowings**

Details of the Group's loans are set out in note 22 to the accounts.

#### **Five-year financial summary**

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 74 of this annual report.

#### Purchase, sale and redemption of the Company's listed securities

The Company has not redeemed any of its listed securities of the Company during the year. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased or sold any of listed securities of the Company during the year.

#### **Directors**

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

#### **Executive Directors**

Mr. Wang Jun (Chairman) (appointed on 21st March 2005)

Ms. Chen Xiao Ying (Executive Vice Chairman)

Mr. Luo Ning (Vice Chairman)

Mr. Sun Yalei

Mr. Zhang Lian Yang

Mr. Yin Yiping Ms. Xia Guilan

Dr. Liu Xiaoping

Mr. Vong Tat leong, David (Vice Chairman) (resigned on 30th October 2004) Mr. Zhang Yue (resigned on 13th September 2004)

#### Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Tsui Yiu Wa, Alec Mr. Zhang Jian Ming

(appointed on 30th September 2004) Mr. Liu Hongru

In accordance with Clause 99 of the bye-laws of the Company, Ms. Chen Xiao Ying, Ms. Xia Guilan and Mr. Yin Yiping will retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company and Ms. Chen Xiao Ying and Ms. Xia Guilan, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election. Mr. Yin Yiping does not offer himself for reelection at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company and shall retire as a Director at the close of the forthcoming annual general meeting.

In accordance with Clause 102 of the bye-laws of the Company, Mr. Wang Jun and Mr. Liu Hongru will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company or its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

#### **Biographical details of Directors**

Brief biographical details of Directors are set out on pages 23 and 24 of this annual report.

#### **Share Option and Warrants**

During the year, a rights issue of warrants at an initial subscription price of HK\$0.10 per warrant was made in the proportion of one warrant for every six Shares held by members on the register of members of the Company on 25th February 2005, resulting in 550,697,664 warrants being issued. Each warrant entitles the holder thereof to subscribe for one Share at an exercise price of HK\$2.40 per Share, payable in cash and subject to adjustment, at any time from 18th March 2005 to 17th September 2006.

No warrants have been exercised since the date of issue and up to 31st March 2005. From 1st April 2005 to the date of this report, a total of 52,417 warrants were exercised. The exercise in full of such warrants would, under the present capital structure of the Company, result in the issue of 550,645,247 additional Shares.

#### **Share Option Schemes**

#### (i) **Old Scheme**

On 28th May 1998, a share option scheme (the "Old Scheme") was approved at a special general meeting of the Company for the primary purpose of providing incentives to the Directors and eligible employees. Under the Old Scheme, the Directors may, at their discretion, grant share options to full time employees including executive Directors in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Old Scheme. The total number of Shares in respect of which options may be granted under the Old Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of the issued Shares from time to time excluding the aggregate number of Shares which have been duly allotted and issued pursuant to the Old Scheme, without prior approval from the Company's shareholders. The number of Shares in respect of which options may be granted to any one individual in aggregate is not permitted to exceed 25% of the maximum aggregate number of Shares issued and issuable under the Old Scheme.

Options granted under the Old Scheme must be taken up within 28 days of the date of grant, upon payment of HK\$1 per option. All the options granted will expire at the end of ten years from the date of grant or the life of the Old Scheme, whichever is earlier. The subscription price of the options shall be at a price not less than the higher of the nominal value of the Shares and 80% of the average of the closing prices of the Shares quoted on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock Exchange") for five trading days immediately preceding the date of grant of the option.

The Old Scheme was terminated on 30th August 2002 pursuant to a resolution passed on that date such that no further options shall be offered under the Old Scheme but the options granted thereunder shall continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance with their terms of issue and its provisions shall remain in full force and effect in all other respects.

#### (ii) New Scheme

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 30th August 2002, the shareholders of the Company approved the adoption of a share option scheme (the "New Scheme") under which the Directors may, at their discretion, invite Directors and employees of the Company or its subsidiaries and other eligible persons to subscribe for Shares subject to terms and conditions stipulated therein. The purpose of the New Scheme, which will expire on 30th August 2012, is to enable the Board to grant options to selected eligible persons as incentives or rewards for their contribution or potential contribution to the Group. Under the New Scheme, the Directors may grant options to the following eligible persons (and their wholly owned companies) of the Company, its subsidiaries and any companies in which the Group holds any equity interest, to subscribe for the Shares:—

- (i) employees; or
- (ii) Directors; or
- (iii) shareholders; or
- (iv) business or joint venture partners; or
- (v) any persons or entity that provides research, development or other technological support or any advisory or other services; or
- (vi) suppliers or customers; or
- (vii) landlord or tenant.

#### (ii) New Scheme (Continued)

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within 30 days of the date of grant, upon payment of HK\$1 by way of consideration for the grant thereof. Share options may be exercised at any time from the date of grant or such later date as the Directors may determine and expiring at the close of business on such date as the Directors may determine but in any event not exceeding 10 years from the date of grant. The exercise price must be no less than the highest of (i) the closing price of Shares on the date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of the Shares for the five trading days immediately preceding the date of grant; or (iii) the nominal value of the Shares. The maximum number of Shares in respect of which share options may be granted under the New Scheme and any other option scheme is not permitted to exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time. The current limit is 310,926,600, being 10% of Shares in issue as at the adoption date of the New Scheme (subject to new scheme mandate as refreshed by approval of shareholders in general meeting). No person shall be granted an option which exceeds 1% of the Shares in issue as at the date of grant in any twelve-month period up to the date of grant. Any grant of share options to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive Director (or any of their respective associates), which aggregated with all share options (whether exercised, cancelled or outstanding) already granted to any of them during the twelve-month period up to the date of grant, in excess of 0.1% of the Shares in issue and having an aggregate value in excess of HK\$5,000,000, is subject to approval by shareholders at the general meeting of the Company, with voting to be taken by way of a poll.

#### (iii) Movements in the Share Options

As at 31st March 2005, the number of Shares available for issue under the Old Scheme was 78,400,000 Shares, representing approximately 2.4% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this report. No further options will be granted under the Old Scheme.

Under the New Scheme, the Company had granted (excluding share options lapsed under the New Scheme) share options to subscribe for 209,660,000 Shares up to 31st March 2005, representing approximately 6.3% of the issued share capital of the Company as at date of this report. Under the existing limit, the Company can further grant share options to subscribe for 101,266,600 Shares, representing approximately 3.1% of the total issued capital as at the date of this report.

### (iii) Movements in the Share Options (Continued)

As at 31st March 2005, the particulars of the options granted to each of the Directors and the employees and other eligible persons of the Company under the Old Scheme and New Scheme are as follows:

						Number of option	ons		
				At				At	
	Date of	Exercise		1st April	Granted	Lapsed	Exercised	31st March	
	grant	price	Exercise period	2004	during year <sup>2</sup>	during year	during year#	2005	
		(HK\$)							
Directors									
Mr. Wang Jun	23.3.2005	3.175	23.3.2006 to 23.3.2015	-	10,000,000	-	-	10,000,000	9
	23.3.2005	3.175	23.3.2007 to 23.3.2015	-	10,000,000	-	-	10,000,000	9
	23.3.2005	3.175	23.3.2008 to 23.3.2015	-	10,000,000	-	-	10,000,000	9
Ms. Chen Xiao Ying	13.7.2000	0.9900	13.1.2001 to 27.5.2008	21,000,000	-	-	-	21,000,000	Δ
	13.7.2000	0.9900	13.7.2001 to 27.5.2008	21,000,000	-	-	-	21,000,000	Δ,
	13.7.2000	0.9900	13.7.2002 to 27.5.2008	28,000,000	-	-	-	28,000,000	Δ,
	24.6.2003	0.3220	10.9.2004 to 23.6.2013	30,000,000	-	-	-	30,000,000	9,
	24.6.2003	0.3220	10.3.2005 to 23.6.2013	30,000,000	-	-	-	30,000,000	9,
	24.6.2003	0.3220	10.9.2005 to 23.6.2013	30,000,000	-	-	-	30,000,000	9,
Mr. Luo Ning	24.6.2003	0.3220	24.6.2004 to 23.6.2013	3,333,333	-	-	-	3,333,333	9,
	24.6.2003	0.3220	24.12.2004 to 23.6.2013	3,333,333	-	-	-	3,333,333	9,
	24.6.2003	0.3220	24.6.2005 to 23.6.2013	3,333,334	-	-	-	3,333,334	9:
Mr. Sun Yalei	24.6.2003	0.3220	24.6.2004 to 23.6.2013	3,333,333	-	-	-	3,333,333	9,
	24.6.2003	0.3220	24.12.2004 to 23.6.2013	3,333,333	-	-	-	3,333,333	9,
	24.6.2003	0.3220	24.6.2005 to 23.6.2013	3,333,334	-	-	-	3,333,334	д*
Mr. Zhang Lian Yang	24.6.2003	0.3220	24.6.2004 to 23.6.2013	5,000,000	-	-	-	5,000,000	9,
	24.6.2003	0.3220	24.12.2004 to 23.6.2013	5,000,000	-	-	-	5,000,000	9*
	24.6.2003	0.3220	24.6.2005 to 23.6.2013	5,000,000	-	-	-	5,000,000	9,
Dr. Liu Xiaoping	24.6.2003	0.3220	24.6.2004 to 23.6.2013	1,666,666	-	-	(1,666,666)	-	9
	24.6.2003	0.3220	24.12.2004 to 23.6.2013	1,666,666	-	-	(1,666,666)	-	9
	24.6.2003	0.3220	24.6.2005 to 23.6.2013	1,666,668	-	-	-	1,666,668	9,
				200,000,000	30,000,000	-	(3,333,332)	226,666,668	

### (iii) Movements in the Share Options (Continued)

				Number of options				
	Date of grant	Exercise price (HK\$)	Exercise period	At 1st April 2004	Granted during year <sup>2</sup>	Lapsed during year	Exercised during year #	At 31st March 2005
Ex-Directors								
Mr. Vong Tat leong,	24.6.2003	0.3220	24.6.2004 to 23.6.2013	10,360,000	_	-	(10,360,000)	_
David	24.6.2003	0.3220	24.12.2004 to 23.6.2013	10,360,000	-	(10,360,000)	-	-
	24.6.2003	0.3220	24.6.2005 to 23.6.2013	10,360,000	-	(10,360,000)	-	-
/Ir. Zhang Yue	24.6.2003	0.3220	24.6.2004 to 23.6.2013	5,000,000	_	(5,000,000)	_	-
Ů	24.6.2003	0.3220	24.12.2004 to 23.6.2013	5,000,000	-	(5,000,000)	-	-
	24.6.2003	0.3220	24.6.2005 to 23.6.2013	5,000,000	-	(5,000,000)	-	-
				46,080,000	-	(35,720,000)	(10,360,000)	-
imployees and other	13.7.2000	0.9900	13.1.2001 to 27.5.2008	1,065,000			(1,065,000)	
eligible persons	13.7.2000	0.9900	13.7.2001 to 27.5.2008	1,065,000	_	_	(1,005,000)	60,000
	13.7.2000	0.9900	13.7.2002 to 27.5.2008	1,420,000	_	_	(1,080,000)	340,000
	20.11.2000	0.7920	20.11.2001 to 27.5.2008	2,400,000	_	_	-	2,400,000
	20.11.2000	0.7920	20.11.2002 to 27.5.2008	2,400,000	-	-	-	2,400,000
	20.11.2000	0.7920	20.11.2003 to 27.5.2008	3,200,000	-	-	-	3,200,000
	20.3.2001	0.3304	13.1.2003 to 27.5.2008	60,000	-		(60,000)	-
	20.3.2001	0.3304	13.7.2003 to 27.5.2008	60,000	-		(60,000)	-
	20.3.2001	0.3304	13.7.2004 to 27.5.2008	440,000	-	(00.070.000)	(440,000)	-
	24.6.2003	0.3220	24.6.2004 to 23.6.2013	26,306,667		(23,973,333)	(2,333,332)	2
	24.6.2003	0.3220 0.3220	24.12.2004 to 23.6.2013	26,306,667		(23,973,333)	(2,333,332)	2 222 222
	24.6.2003 22.9.2004	1.2300	24.6.2005 to 23.6.2013 22.09.2005 to 22.10.2005	26,306,666	8,000,000	(23,973,334)	-	2,333,332 4,333,334
	22.9.2004	1.2300	22.09.2006 to 22.10.2006	_	8,000,000	(3,666,666)	_	4,333,334
	22.9.2004	1.2300	22.09.2007 to 22.10.2007	_	8,000,000	(3,666,668)	_	4,333,332
	01.2.2005	2.255	06.01.2006 to 31.01.2015	_	1,333,333	-	_	1,333,333
	01.2.2005	2.255	06.01.2007 to 31.01.2015	-	1,333,333	-	-	1,333,333
	01.2.2005	2.255	06.01.2008 to 31.01.2015	-	1,333,334	-	-	1,333,334
	01.2.2005	2.255	05.01.2006 to 31.01.2015	-	1,000,000	-	-	1,000,000
	01.2.2005	2.255	05.01.2007 to 31.01.2015	-	1,000,000	-	-	1,000,000
	01.2.2005	2.255	05.01.2008 to 31.01.2015	-	1,000,000	-	-	1,000,000
	2.3.2005	2.525	02.09.2005 to 01.03.2015	-	2,766,666	-	-	2,766,666
	2.3.2005 2.3.2005	2.525 2.525	02.09.2006 to 01.03.2015 02.03.2008 to 01.03.2015	-	2,766,666 2,766,668	-	-	2,766,666 2,766,668
	2.3.2005	2.525	02.03.2006 to 01.03.2015	_	200,000	_	_	200,000
	2.3.2005	2.525	02.03.2007 to 01.03.2015	_	200,000	_	_	200,000
	2.3.2005	2.525	02.03.2008 to 01.03.2015	_	200,000	_	_	200,000
	2.3.2005	2.525	02.03.2009 to 01.03.2015	-	200,000	_	-	200,000
	2.3.2005	2.525	02.03.2010 to 01.03.2015	-	200,000	-	-	200,000
	10.3.2005	2.925	10.03.2006 to 09.03.2015	-	1,000,000	-	-	1,000,000
	10.3.2005	2.925	10.03.2007 to 09.03.2015	-	1,000,000	-	-	1,000,000
	23.3.2005	3.175	23.03.2006 to 22.03.2015	-	200,000	-	-	200,000
	23.3.2005	3.175	23.03.2007 to 22.03.2015	-	200,000	-	-	200,000
	23.3.2005	3.175	23.03.2008 to 22.03.2015 23.03.2009 to 22.03.2015	-	200,000	-	-	200,000
	23.3.2005 23.3.2005	3.175 3.175	23.03.2010 to 22.03.2015	-	200,000 200,000	-	-	200,000 200,000
				91,030,000	43,300,000	(82,920,000)	(8,376,664)	43,033,336
				337,110,000	73,300,000	(118,640,000)	(22,069,996)	269,700,004

#### Movements in the Share Options (Continued)

- Δ Options under Old Scheme
- а Options under New Scheme
- The exercise of options and the number of Shares to be issued upon exercise of such options are subject to achievement of certain targeted turnover of HL95
- The closing prices of the Shares immediately before the dates on which the options were granted during the year are as follows:-

Date of grant		Closing price on the date
		immediately before
	Exercise price	the date of grant
	HK\$	HK\$
22nd September 2004	1.230	1.230
1st February 2005	2.255	2.300
2nd March 2005	2.525	2.500
10th March 2005	2.925	2.825
23rd March 2005	3.175	3.275

- The weighted average closing prices of the Shares immediately before the dates of which the options were exercised by a Director, an ex-Director and employees were HK\$1.828, HK\$2.550 and HK\$2.213 respectively.
- The Company is now consulting the relevant experts as to the adjustments required to be made to the exercise price and/or the number of the options as a result of the right issue of warrants and will give notice to the holders of options in due course.

The share options granted are not recognised in the accounts until they are exercised. The Directors consider that it is not appropriate to value the share options on the ground that certain crucial factors for such valuation are variables which cannot be reasonably determined at this stage. Any valuation of the share options based on speculative assumptions in respect of such variables would not be meaningful and the results thereof may be misleading to the shareholders. Therefore, it is more appropriate to disclose only the exercise price and market price immediately before the date on which the options were granted.

Except for the share option schemes, at no time during the year was the Company or its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors or chief executives of the Company nor their spouses or children under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

#### **Directors' interests in contracts**

No contracts of significance in relation to the Company's business to which the Company, any of its subsidiaries or its holding companies were a party and in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

#### **Directors' interests in equity securities**

As at 31st March, 2005, the Directors and their associates have the following interests or short positions in Shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any associated corporations (within the meaning of Securities and Futures Ordinance ("SFO")) which had to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or which were recorded in the register of the Company required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies ("Model Code") as set out in Appendix 10 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the "Listing Rules"):

		Number of shares/underlying shares held						
			Share					
	Shares	Shares	options <sup>(2)</sup>					
	(Corporate	(Personal	(Personal	Equity	Aggregate			
	interest)	interest)	interest)	derivatives(3)	interests			
Mr. Wang Jun	_	-	30,000,000	_	30,000,000			
Ms. Chen Xiao Ying	784,937,030(1)	_	160,000,000	130,822,838(1)	1,075,759,868			
Mr. Luo Ning	_	_	10,000,000	_	10,000,000			
Mr. Sun Yalei	_	-	10,000,000	_	10,000,000			
Mr. Zhang Lian Yang	-	_	15,000,000	-	15,000,000			
Dr. Liu Xiaoping	_	66,000	1,666,668	_	1,732,668			
	784,937,030	66,000	226,666,668	130,822,838	1,142,492,536			

#### Notes:

- (1) The interest in these Shares and underlying shares of the Company were held by Uni-Tech International Group Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of 21CN Corporation. 21CN Corporation is owned as to 95% by Pollon Internet Corporation, a company wholly owned by Ms Chen Xiao Ying.
- (2) Particulars of interests of the Directors in the share options of the Company are set out in the section headed "Share Option Schemes" above.
- (3) All interests in Shares and underlying shares of the Company are long positions. All interests in underlying shares of the Company are interests in warrants of the Company which conferred rights to subscribe for Shares at an initial subscription price of HK\$2.40 per Share (subject to adjustment) exercisable during the period from 18th March, 2005 to 17th September, 2006.

Save as disclosed above, none of Directors nor any chief executive of the Company has any interest or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which would have to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of the SFO or were recorded in the register maintained under section 352 of the SFO or which were required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

#### Substantial shareholders interest in equity securities

As at 31st March 2005, the following parties (other than a Director or chief executive of the Company) had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company that would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register of the Company required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO:

				Total interest	Approximate
				in Shares/	percentage
	Nature of	Number of	Equity	underlying	of the issued
Name	interest	Shares held	derivative	Shares	share capital
		(note (c))	(note (c))		
Uni-Tech International	Beneficial	784,937,030	130,822,838	915,759,868	27.71
Group Limited (note (a))	owner				
21CN Corporation	Interest of	784,937,030	130,822,838	915,759,868	27.71
(note (a))	controlled				
	corporation				
Pollon Internet	Interest of	784,937,030	130,822,838	915,759,868	27.71
Corporation (note (a))	controlled				
	corporation				
CITIC Group ("CITIC")	Interest of	807,998,000	134,666,333	942,664,333	28.53
(note (b))	controlled				
	corporation				

#### Notes:

- (a) The interest in these Shares and underlying shares were held by Uni-Tech International Group Limited, which is wholly-owned by 21CN Corporation. 21CN Corporation is owned as to 95% by Pollon Internet Corporation, which is wholly-owned by Ms. Chen Xiao Ying, Executive Vice Chairman of the Company.
- (b) The interest in these Shares and underlying shares of the Company were held by Road Shine Development Limited as to 700,000,000 Shares, Goldreward.com Ltd. as to 191,121,000 Shares and Perfect Deed Co. Ltd. as to 51,543,333 Shares, all of which are, directly or indirectly, controlled by CITIC Group.
- (c) All interests in Shares and underlying shares of the Company are long positions. All interests in underlying shares of the Company are interests in warrants of the Company which conferred rights to subscribe for Shares at an initial subscription price of HK\$2.40 per Share (subject to adjustment) exercisable during the period from 18th March, 2005 to 17th September, 2006.

#### Substantial shareholders interest in equity securities (Continued)

Save as disclosed above, there are no other interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in the register maintained under section 336 of SFO as at 31st March 2005.

#### **Connected transactions**

During the year, the Group entered into certain connected transactions, as defined under the Listing Rules, which are also related party transactions, references to which are set out in note 27 to the accounts.

#### **Management contracts**

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed during the year.

#### Retirement scheme

Details of the Group's retirement schemes are set out in note 7 to the accounts.

#### Major customers and suppliers

The aggregate purchase of revenue items during the year attributable to the Group's five largest suppliers was 26% of the total purchases of revenue and services of the Group, of which 10% was made from the largest supplier. The aggregate turnover during the year attributable to the Group's five largest customers was 18% of the total turnover of the Group, of which 12% was made to the largest customer.

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholders who to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the share capital of the Company has an interest in the suppliers or customers disclosed above.

#### Corporate governance

Throughout the year, the Company was in compliance with the Code of Best Practice as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules except that independent non-executive Directors of the Company are not appointed for a specific term but are subject to retirement by rotation at the annual general meeting in accordance with the Company's bye-laws.

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as a code of conduct regarding Directors' securities transactions. The Company has made specific enquiry to all Directors regarding any non-compliance with the Model Code during the year and they all confirmed that they have fully complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code.

#### **Audit committee**

The written terms of reference which describe the authority and duties of the audit committee of the Company (the "Audit Committee") were prepared and adopted with reference to "A Guide for the Formation of an Audit Committee" published by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

The Audit Committee provides an important link between the Directors and the independent auditors of the Company in matters coming within the scope of the audit for the Group. It also reviews the effectiveness of the external audit and of internal controls and risk evaluation. The members of the Audit Committee comprises Mr. Tsui Yiu Wa, Alec, Mr. Zhang Jian Ming and Mr. Liu Hongru, all of whom are independent non-executive Directors. Three Audit Committee meetings were held during the year ended 31st March 2005 to review financial issues and to make recommendation to the Directors for approval of the interim and annual financial statements.

#### **Directors' interests in competing business**

None of the Directors have any beneficial interest in other businesses which constitute a competing business to the Group.

#### Post balance sheet event

On 23rd May 2005, the Group entered into a memorandum of understanding with Hebei Board of Radio and Television in the PRC regarding the formation of a joint venture with a registered capital of RMB100,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK\$94,340,000). The joint venture will be engaged in (i) the development of digital television and multi services technology platform, (ii) visual, audio and data transmission business for the government, (iii) sales and leasing of set-top boxes and (iv) set up of program content library for digital television network in Hebei Province. The joint venture will be owned as to 49% by the Group and 51% by the other party. Up to the date of this report, no legal binding agreement was concluded.

#### **Auditors**

The accounts have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, who will retire and, being eligible, to offer themselves for re-appointment in the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

#### Chen Xiao Ying

Executive Vice Chairman

Hong Kong, 4th July 2005

### The Biographical Information of Directors

#### **Executive Directors**

Mr. WANG Jun, aged 64, was appointed as the chairman of the Company in March 2005. Mr. Wang graduated from Harbin Engineering Institute in the PRC, is currently the chairman of CITIC Group in Beijing and Poly (Hong Kong) Investments Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Ms. CHEN Xiao Ying, aged 42, is the Executive Vice Chairman of the Company. Ms. Chen has been chairman of the Pollon Group, a private investment group, since its inception in 1989. Ms. Chen is responsible for developing and managing the Pollon Group's business for the past 16 years, including investments in power plants, telecommunications and property development in the PRC. Ms. Chen has been a member of the National Committee of the Chinese People's Political Consultative Conference since 1998 and a Permanent Honorary President of Friends of Hong Kong Association Limited since 1999. Ms. Chen has served as Director since May 2000.

Mr. LUO Ning, aged 46, is the Vice Chairman of the Company. Mr. Luo is the assistant president of CITIC Group and also a director of CITIC Information Leadership Group under the CITIC Group. Mr. Luo has over 15 years' experience in the telecommunications business. Mr. Luo graduated from the PLA Communication & Command Institute. Mr. Luo has served as Director since September 2002.

Mr. SUN Yalei, aged 37, is the president of CITIC Guoan Group. Mr. Sun has extensive experience in financial and assets management. Mr. Sun graduated from the Renmin University of China. Mr. Sun has served as Director since September 2002.

Mr. ZHANG Lian Yang, aged 60, has extensive experience in the property investment and development business, trading and information technology-related business in the PRC for over 20 years. Mr. Zhang has served as Director since September 2002.

Mr. YIN Yiping, aged 45, is currently the general manager of China Telecommunications Corporation's operation in Shaanxi. He was formerly the chief information officer of the CITIC Group and CITIC Holdings. Mr. Yin was previously the director of General of Data Telecommunications Bureau of the Ministry of Posts and Telecommunications ("MPT") and Multimedia Telecommunications and Information Management at the MPT's Directorate-General of Telecommunications. Mr. Yin has extensive experience in data communication and telecommunications in the PRC. Mr. Yin has served as Director since July 2003.

Ms. XIA Guilan, aged 42, is currently the vice general manager of CITIC Guoan Group. Ms. Xia was previously the vice chairman of CITIC Guoan Information Industries Company Limited. Ms. Xia has served as Director since August 2003.

Dr. LIU Xiaoping, aged 49, was previously the vice general manager of the Direct Investment Department of China International Capital Corporation Limited. Dr. Liu has extensive experience in direct investment in the PRC. Dr. Liu graduated from the University of Minnesota in the US with a PhD degree. Dr. Liu has served as Director since March 2004.

#### Independent non-executive Directors and members of Audit Committee

Mr. TSUI Yiu Wa, Alec, aged 56, is the chief executive of the WAG Financial Services Group Limited and was the chairman of The Hong Kong Securities Institute from December 2001 to December 2004. Mr. Tsui also serves on the boards of various listed companies as an independent non-executive director. Mr. Tsui was the chief executive of Regent Pacific Group Limited, a Hong Kong listed investment company, the chief operating officer of The Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the chief executive of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Tsui joined the Securities and Futures Commission and the Stock Exchange in 1989 and 1994 respectively. Prior to that, Mr. Tsui gained valuable experience from various international and well-known private companies for 12 years where he held technology and financial analysis, corporate planning and management responsibilities. Mr. Tsui holds a Bachelor of Science degree and a Master of Engineering degree in Industrial Engineering from the University of Tennessee and has completed the Program for Senior Managers in Government at the John F Kennedy School of Government at Harvard University. Mr. Tsui has served as independent non-executive Director since September 2000.

Mr. ZHANG Jian Ming, aged 45, is currently the executive partner, managing director and attorney-at-law of a law firm in Beijing. Mr. Zhang has served as independent non-executive Director since August 2003.

Mr. LIU Hongru, aged 74, was appointed as independent non-executive Director in September 2004. Mr. Liu graduated from the University of Moscow in 1959 with an associate doctorate's degree. Mr. Liu is currently the chairman of The Chinese Financial Education Development Foundation and Capital Market Research Institute, an independent non-executive director of Petrochina Company Limited, Titan Petrochemicals Group Limited and Oriental Metals (Holdings) Company Limited, and a non-executive director of Concepta Investments Limited. He is also a professor at the Postgraduate School of the People's Bank of China, Peking University, Tsinghua University and the City University of Hong Kong. He was formerly a vice governor of the Agricultural Bank of China and the People's Bank of China, a deputy director of the State Economic Restructuring Committee, and the first chairman of the China Securities Regulatory Commission.



羅兵咸永道會計師事務所

PricewaterhouseCoopers 22nd Floor Prince's Building Central Hong Kong

## TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CITIC 21CN COMPANY LIMITED

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the accounts set out on pages 26 to 73 which have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards.

#### **Respective responsibilities of Directors and Auditors**

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of accounts which give a true and fair view. In preparing accounts which give a true and fair view, it is fundamental that appropriate accounting policies are selected and applied consistently.

It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on our audit, on those accounts and to report our opinion, solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

#### **Basis of opinion**

We conducted our audit in accordance with Statements of Auditing Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the accounts. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements made by the Directors in the preparation of the accounts, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the circumstances of the Company and the Group, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance as to whether the accounts are free from material misstatement. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the accounts. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

#### **Opinion**

In our opinion the accounts give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group as at 31st March 2005 and of the profit and cash flows of the Group for the year then ended and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

#### PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 4th July 2005

## **Consolidated Profit and Loss Account**

For the year ended 31st March 2005

			As restated
		2005	2004
	Note	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Turnover	3	249,058	163,947
		,	,
Cost of sales and services		(146,999)	(136,857)
Goot of Gales and Gorvious		(140,000)	(100,001)
Gross profit		102,059	27,090
Other revenues	4	50,722	14,150
Distribution costs		(88)	(1,189)
Administrative and other operating expenses		(117,982)	(41,754)
Net profit on discontinuing operations	5	-	903
Operating profit/(loss)	6	34,711	(800)
			, ,
Finance costs	9	(1,221)	(578)
D (1/4)		00.400	(4.070)
Profit/(loss) before taxation		33,490	(1,378)
Taxation	10	(5,231)	(1,371)
Profit/(loss) after taxation		28,259	(2,749)
Minority interests		(2,839)	714
Profit/(loss) attributable to shareholders		25,420	(2,035)
			(=, )
		1117	1.117
		HK cents	HK cents
Earnings/(loss) per share	11		
Basic		0.77	(0.06)
Diluted		0.76	N/A

## **Consolidated Balance Sheet**

As at 31st March 2005

			As restated
		2005	2004
	Note	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Non-current assets			
Property, plant and equipment	12	57,187	44,667
Negative goodwill	14	_	(4,854)
Associated company	15	76,560	-
Other investments	16	7,728	7,196
Other non-current assets	17	1,057	_
		142,532	47,009
Current assets			
Inventories and contracts in progress	18	3,954	6,488
Debtors and prepayments	19	166,143	113,210
Taxation recoverable		251	639
Cash and bank balances	20	136,266	225,586
		306,614	345,923
0 15 1755			
Current liabilities  Creditors and accruals	21	118,305	115 225
Taxation payable	21	3,177	115,225 3,748
Short-term loans	22	11,583	49,504
Chort torm loans		11,000	
		133,065	168,477
Net current assets		173,549 	177,446
		316,081	224,455
Financed by:			
Share capital	23	33,044	32,823
Reserves	24	275,743	185,260
Shareholders' funds		308,787	218,083
Minority interests		7,294	6,372
		316,081	224,455

Chen Xiao Ying
Director

Liu Xiaoping
Director

## **Balance Sheet**

As at 31st March 2005

	Note	2005 HK\$'000	2004 HK\$'000
Non-current assets			
Property, plant and equipment	12	198	321
Subsidiaries	13	161,477	77,133
		161,675 	77,454
Current assets	10	0.004	4 000
Debtors and prepayments  Cash and bank balances	19	2,324 82,549	1,008 124,702
Casii and bank balances		62,549	124,702
		84,873	125,710
		01,070	120,7 10
Current liabilities			
Creditors and accruals	21	5,635	1,695
Net current assets		79,238 	124,015
		240,913	201,469
Financed by:			
Share capital	23	33,044	32,823
Share Capital	25	33,044	02,020
Reserves	24	207,869	168,646
Shareholders' funds		240,913	201,469
Griarenoluers runus		240,813	201,409

Chen Xiao Ying

Director

Liu Xiaoping

Director

## **Consolidated Cash Flow Statement**

For the year ended 31st March 2005

			As restated
		2005	2004
	Note	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Cash flows from operating activities			
Net cash used in operations	26(a)	(26,935)	(25,814)
Interest received		441	274
Mainland China income tax paid		(6,259)	(460)
Net cash used in operating activities		(32,753)	(26,000)
Cash flows from investing activities			
Proceeds from sale of an associated company	5(a)	_	553
Proceeds from sale of properties, net of cash disposed	5(b)	_	34,268
Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment	` '	45	_
Acquisition of subsidiaries by a jointly controlled entity		(1,779)	_
Purchase of plant and equipment		(22,328)	(503)
Purchase of other investments		(530)	· -
Proceeds from sale of subsidiaries	26(c)	411	_
Acquisition of interest in a jointly controlled entity	26(b)	1,439	16,788
Acquisition of an associated company	31(c)	(57,345)	_
Increase in restricted bank deposits		(1,057)	-
Net cash (used in)/from investing activities		(81,144) 	51,106
Cash flows from financing activities			
Issue of new shares and warrants	06(4)	61 666	110 700
	26(d)	61,666	118,702
(Decrease)/increase in short term loans repayable more than three months from			
the date of advance	26(d)	(36,029)	6,841
Interest paid	20(u)		•
interest paid		(1,221)	(578)
Net cash from financing activities		24,416 	124,965
(Decrease)/increase in cash and bank balances		(89,481)	150,071
Cash and bank balances at beginning of the year		225,586	75,342
Changes in exchange rates		161	173
Cash and bank balances at end of the year	20	136,266	225,586

## **Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity**

For the year ended 31st March 2005

	Share capital HK\$'000	Reserves HK\$'000	Total HK\$'000
At 31st March 2003	31,093	70,941	102,034
Changes in exchange rates	-	241	241
Realised exchange reserve on disposal of a subsidiary	-	(859)	(859)
Issue of new shares	1,725	121,275	123,000
Share issue expenses	-	(4,476)	(4,476)
Issue of shares on exercise of share options	5	173	178
Loss attributable to shareholders		(2,035)	(2,035)
At 31st March 2004	32,823	185,260	218,083
Negative goodwill derecognition (note 1(a))	-	4,854	4,854
Changes in exchange rates	-	161	161
Realised exchange reserve on disposal of a subsidiary	-	(1,397)	(1,397)
Issue of new warrants	-	55,070	55,070
Warrants issue expenses	-	(2,620)	(2,620)
Issue of shares on exercise of share options	221	8,995	9,216
Profit attributable to shareholders		25,420	25,420
At 31st March 2005	33,044	275,743	308,787

### **Notes to the Accounts**

#### 1. **Principal Accounting Policies**

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these accounts are set out below.

#### (a) Basis of preparation

The accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention in conformity with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the "HKICPA").

The HKICPA has issued a number of new and revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and Accounting Standards ("new HKFRSs") which are effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1st January 2005. The Group has early adopted in advance of the effective date the following new HKFRSs that are believed to have the most material effect on the Group's accounts for the year ended 31st March 2005:

Hong Kong Financial Reporting **Business Combinations** 

Standard 3 (new "HKFRS 3")

Hong Kong Accounting Standard 31 Interests in Joint Ventures

(revised "HKAS 31")

Hong Kong Accounting Standard 36 Impairment of Assets

(revised "HKAS 36")

Hong Kong Accounting Standard 38 Intangible Assets

(revised "HKAS 38")

The key impact to the accounts of the Group on adopting these new HKFRSs is as follows:

- (i) proportionate consolidation method under HKAS 31 was applied for accounting the Group's investment in a jointly controlled entity;
- (ii) amortisation of negative goodwill ceased from 1st April 2004; and
- (iii) negative goodwill as at 1st April 2004 has been derecognised and credited to equity.

HKAS 31 has been adopted retrospectively, as required under the standard. As a result, the comparative figures for the consolidated balance sheet as at 31st March 2004 and the consolidated profit and loss account and consolidated cash flow statement for the year ended 31st March 2004 have been restated but the change has no effect on the reserves of the Group as at 31st March 2004.

#### 1. **Principal Accounting Policies** (Continued)

#### Basis of preparation (Continued)

HKFRS 3, HKAS 36 and HKAS 38 have been applied prospectively in accordance with the transitional provisions in the respective standards. In particular, negative goodwill arising on acquisition as at 1st April 2004 has been derecognised in accordance with the transitional provision of HKFRS 3, resulting in an increase in reserves of HK\$4,854,000 and a decrease in negative goodwill of the same amount.

HKFRS 3 permits to apply the requirements of the standard from any date before the effective date, provided:

- (i) the valuations and other information needed to apply the HKFRS to past business combinations were obtained at the time those combinations were initially accounted for; and
- (ii) the entity also applies the revised versions of HKAS 36 and HKAS 38 prospectively from that same date, and the valuations and other information needed to apply those Standards from that date were previously obtained by the entity so that there would be no need to determine estimates that would need to have been made at a prior date.

However, HKAS 36 and HKAS 38 do not have impact to the Group.

The Group has not early adopted the other new HKFRSs except for those mentioned above in the accounts for the year ended 31st March 2005. The Group has already commenced an assessment of the impact of the other new HKFRSs and considered that the following new HKFRSs may have an impact to the Group's results of operations and financial position:

HKFRS 2	Share – based payment
HKAS 16	Property, plant and equipment
HKAS 17	Leases
HKAS 32	Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation
HKAS 39	Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement

The Directors however consider that, apart from HKFRS 2, the impact of those new HKFRSs would not be significant.

#### (b) **Basis of consolidation**

The consolidated accounts include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31st March. Subsidiaries are companies in which the Group has the power to exercise control governing the financial and operating policies of the company.

#### 1. **Principal Accounting Policies** (Continued)

#### (b) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The consolidated accounts also include the Group's attributable share of post-acquisition results and reserves of its jointly controlled entity and associated company.

Results attributable to subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated profit and loss account from the date on which control is transferred to the Group or up to the date that control ceases, as applicable.

The profit or loss on disposal of subsidiaries is calculated by reference to the share of net assets at the date of disposal including the attributable amount of goodwill or negative goodwill, which remains unamortized and any related accumulated exchange reserve.

All significant inter-company transactions and balances between group companies are eliminated.

#### (c) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the difference between the cost of an acquisition over the fair values ascribed to the Group's share of the identifiable net assets of the acquired subsidiaries, jointly controlled entity and associated company at the effective date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisition is included in the balance sheet as a separate asset and is tested annually for impairment and provision is made when, in the opinion of the Directors, there is impairment in value other than temporary in nature.

Where the fair values ascribed to the identifiable net assets exceed the cost of acquisition, such differences are recognised as income in the year of acquisition.

In previous years, goodwill on acquisition is amortised using the straight-line method over its estimated useful life of not more than twenty years. In addition, where the fair values ascribed to the identifiable net assets exceeded the cost of acquisition, such differences were recognised as income in the year of acquisition or over the weighted average useful life of those non-monetary assets acquired. The Directors are of the view that the revised standard can more fairly reflect the result of the business acquisitions and disposals undertaken by the Group. As explained in note (a) above, this change in accounting policy has been applied prospectively, resulting in an increase in reserves of HK\$4,854,000 as at 1st April 2004.

#### 1. Principal Accounting Policies (Continued)

#### (d) Jointly controlled entity

A jointly controlled entity is a joint venture in respect of which a contractual arrangement is established between the participating parties and whereby the Group together with the parties undertake an economic activity which is subject to joint control and none of the parties has unilateral control over the economic activity.

A jointly controlled entity is accounted for using the proportionate consolidation method under which the share of individual assets and liabilities, income and expenses and cash flows of jointly controlled entity is included in the relevant components of the consolidated accounts.

In previous years, jointly controlled entity was accounted for under the equity method whereby the Group's share of results was included in the consolidated profit and loss account and the Group's share of net assets was included in the consolidated balance sheet. The Directors are of the view that proportionate consolidation method under HKAS 31 fairly reflects the substance and economic reality of the arrangement for the jointly controlled entity and therefore the financial performance and position of the Group. As explained in note 1(a) above, this change in accounting policy has been applied retrospectively and the comparative figures for the previous year have been restated.

#### (e) Associated company

An associated company is a company, not being a subsidiary, in which an equity interest is held for the long-term and significant influence is exercised in its management. An associated company is accounted for under the equity method whereby the Group's share of results is included in the consolidated profit and loss account and the Group's share of net asset is included in the consolidated balance sheet.

#### (f) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost or valuation less accumulated depreciation and provision for significant impairment in values.

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings in respect of which construction work and development have been completed, held for their long-term investment potential and are not occupied by the Group. Investment properties are carried at fair values, representing their open market value determined annually based on professional valuation. A deficit in valuation is charged to the profit and loss account; an increase is first credited to the profit and loss account to the extent of valuation deficit previously charged and thereafter is credited to the investment properties revaluation reserve. Upon the disposal of an investment property, any relevant revaluation surplus realised is transferred to the profit and loss account.

#### 1. Principal Accounting Policies (Continued)

#### (f) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

No depreciation is provided for investment properties held under leases of more than twenty years. Other assets are depreciated at rates sufficient to write off their cost over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal estimated useful lives are as follows:

Buildings 50 years or over the unexpired period of leases

Leasehold land Over the unexpired period of leases

Leasehold improvements,

furniture and equipment 5 to 20 years

Computer and special equipment 2 to 10 years

Motor vehicles 5 to 10 years

Major costs incurred in restoring assets to their normal working condition are charged to the profit and loss account. Improvements are capitalised and depreciated over their expected useful lives to the Group. The carrying amounts of assets are reviewed regularly. Where the estimated recoverable amounts have declined permanently below their carrying amounts, the carrying amounts are written down to their estimated recoverable amounts.

Profits or losses on disposal are determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the assets, and are dealt with in the profit and loss account. Upon disposal of revalued assets, any revaluation reserve is transferred directly to accumulated loss.

#### (g) Investments

Investments intended to be held for long-term are included in the balance sheet under non-current assets and are carried at cost less provision. The carrying amounts of individual investments are reviewed to assess whether the fair values have declined below the carrying amounts. When a decline other than temporary has occurred, the carrying amount of such investment will be reduced to its fair value. The impairment is recognised as an expense in the profit and loss account and is written back to profit and loss account when the circumstances and events that led to the writedowns cease to exist and there is persuasive evidence that the new circumstances and events will persist for the foreseeable future.

#### 1. **Principal Accounting Policies** (Continued)

#### (h) Assets impairment

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).

#### (i) Inventories and contracts in progress

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost calculated using first-in, first-out basis, comprises all cost of purchase and other direct costs. Net realisable value is determined on the basis of anticipated sales proceeds less estimated selling expenses.

Contracts in progress are stated at cost plus an appropriate proportion of attributable profit less provision for anticipated losses and progress payments. Contract costs are recognised when incurred. When the outcome of a contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised only to the extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable will be recoverable. When the outcome of a contract can be estimated reliably, contract revenue and contract costs are recognised over the period of the contract, respectively, as revenues and expenses using the percentage of completion method measured by reference to the delivery of goods and services rendered. When it is probable that the total contract costs will exceed the total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

#### **Provisions** (i)

Provisions are recognised when there is a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. Where a provision is expected to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain.

#### 1. **Principal Accounting Policies** (Continued)

#### **Deferred taxation** (k)

Deferred taxation is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the accounts. Tax rates enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date are used to determine deferred taxation. Deferred tax assets relating to carry forward of unused tax losses are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax losses can be utilised.

Deferred taxation is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entity and associated company, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

#### *(I)* **Debtors**

Provision is made against debtors to the extent they are considered to be doubtful. Debtors in the balance sheet are stated net of such provision.

#### (m) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and bank balances, deposits with banks repayable within three months from the date of placement, net of bank overdrafts and loans repayable within three months from the date of advance.

#### (n) Revenue recognition

Revenue from telecommunications value-added services is recognised when the services are provided to customers. Revenue from the sale of merchandise is recognised on the transfer of risks and rewards of ownership, which generally coincides with the time when the goods are delivered to customers and legal title has passed. Revenue from system contracts is recognised based on the percentage of completion of the contract by reference to the delivery of goods and services rendered. Operating lease rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis, taking into account the principal amounts outstanding and the interest rates applicable. Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

#### **Operating leases** (o)

Leases where substantially all the risk and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessors are accounted for as operating leases. Rentals payable, net of incentives received from the lessors, under operating leases are charged to the profit and loss account on a straight line basis over the lease terms.

#### 1. **Principal Accounting Policies** (Continued)

#### **Employee benefits** (p)

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leaves are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave and long service leaves as a result of services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date. Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity or paternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Contributions to defined contribution retirement schemes are charged to the profit and loss account in the year to which the contributions relate.

Provision for bonus plans due wholly within twelve months after balance sheet date are recognised when there is a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of services rendered by employees and a reliable estimate of the obligation can be made.

#### (q) **Borrowing costs**

Interest and related costs on borrowings directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to complete and prepare for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. All other borrowing costs are charged to the profit and loss account in the year in which they are incurred.

#### (r) Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies during the year are translated at exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are translated at rates of exchange ruling at that date. Exchange differences arising are dealt with in the profit and loss account.

Profit and loss accounts of subsidiaries, jointly controlled entity and associated company expressed in foreign currencies are translated at the weighted average exchange rates for the year and balance sheets are translated at rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. Exchange differences arising from the translation of net investments in these subsidiaries, jointly controlled entity and associated company are taken directly to reserves.

### 1. Principal Accounting Policies (Continued)

### (s) Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation arising from past events that is not recognised because it is not probable that outflow of economic resources will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the accounts. When a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, they will then be recognised as a provision.

### 2. Segment Information

The principal activities of the Group are telecommunications valued-added services, operation of platform for electronic customs processing and computer system integration and software development. In accordance with the Group's internal financial reporting and operating activities, the primary segment reporting is by business segment and the secondary segment reporting is by geographical segment. Unallocated results represent corporate income and expenses and there were no sales or trading transactions between the business segments. Segment assets consist primarily of property, plant and equipment, inventories, contracts in progress, debtors and prepayments and mainly exclude investments, cash and bank balances. Segment liabilities comprise mainly creditors and accruals. All business segments are primarily carried out in Mainland China. Accordingly, a separate summary of geographical segment is therefore not presented.

# 2. Segment Information (Continued)

A summary of the business segments is set out as follows:

	Telecom- munications value-added services HK\$'000	Operation of a platform for electronic customs processing HK\$'000	System integration and software development HK\$'000	Corporate HK\$'000	<b>Total</b> HK\$'000
Year ended 31st March 2005	5				
Turnover	189,767	-	59,291	-	249,058
Segment results	25,358	19,215	1,151	(11,013)	34,711
Finance costs					(1,221)
Profit before taxation Taxation					33,490 (5,231)
Profit after taxation Minority interests	(2,842)	-	3	-	28,259 (2,839)
Profit for the year				,	25,420
Segment assets Associated company Unallocated assets	129,654 -	- 76,560	114,603 -	- -	244,257 76,560 128,329
Total assets				,	449,146
Segment liabilities Unallocated liabilities	(57,528)	-	(67,372)	-	(124,900) (8,165)
Total liabilities					(133,065)
Capital expenditure Depreciation	17,305 10,874	- -	111 993	4,912 652	22,328 12,519

# 2. Segment Information (Continued)

Segment information (Co	minacaj	System				
	Telecom-	integration				
	munications	and				
	value-added	software	Property	Telecom-		
		development	investment	munication	Corporate	Total
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Year ended 31st March 2004, as restated						
Turnover	24,493	137,228	2,226	-	-	163,947
Segment results	4,224	1,428	918	-	(8,273)	(1,703)
(Loss)/gain on discontinuing						
operations	-	-	(533)	1,436		903
Operating loss						(800)
Finance costs					_	(578)
Loss before taxation						(1,378)
Taxation					-	(1,371)
Loss after taxation						(2,749)
Minority interests	709	5	-	-		714
Loss for the year					-	(2,035)
Segment assets	125,278	130,140	_	-	-	255,418
Unallocated assets					_	137,514
Total assets					-	392,932
Segment liabilities	(79,640)	(78,211)	-	-	-	(157,851)
Unallocated liabilities					-	(10,626)
Total liabilities						(168,477)
Capital expenditure	_	429	_	_	74	503
Depreciation	1,041	1,171	23	-	343	2,578

### 3. Turnover

			As restated
		2005	2004
		HK\$'000	HK\$'000
	Telecommunications value-added services	189,767	24,493
	Computer system integration and software development	59,291	137,228
	Operating lease rental	-	2,226
		249,058	163,947
4.	Other Revenues		
			As restated
		2005	2004
		HK\$'000	HK\$'000
	Negative goodwill		
	Acquisition of associated company (note 31(c))	19,215	_
	Acquisition of additional interest in a jointly controlled entity		
	(note 26(b))	491	-
	Acquisition of subsidiaries by a jointly-controlled entity	697	-
	Gain on disposal of subsidiaries	13,103	_
	Bad debts recovered (note 19(b))	10,000	7,000
	Write back of long outstanding payables	6,775	-
	Interest	441	282
	Provision for litigation written back (note 28)	-	6,868
		50,722	14,150

#### 5. **Net Profit on Discontinuing Operations**

Profit/(loss) on disposal of the following discontinuing operations Telecommunications (note a) Property investment (note b)

2005	2004
HK\$'000	HK\$'000
-	1,436
-	(533)
-	903

#### **Telecommunications** (a)

The telecommunications business was carried out by Wanbao Telecom (H.K.) Company, Limited ("Wanbao"), in which the Group had a 36% equity interest. On 31st March 2004, the Group entered into agreements with the other shareholders of Wanbao, under which the Group terminated its commitment in respect of Wanbao and disposed of all its interest in Wanbao. Details of the Group's interest in Wanbao were as follows:

	2005	2004
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Net liabilities sold	_	(883)
Profit on disposal	-	1,436
Net proceeds	_	553

There was no cash inflow or outflow in relation to the investment in Wanbao in 2004.

#### 5. **Net Profit on Discontinuing Operations** (Continued)

#### **Property investment** (b)

During the year ended 31st March 2004, the Group transferred all its investment properties and leasehold land and buildings in Mainland China to a wholly-owned subsidiary, which was then disposed of to two subsidiaries of CITIC Group, a substantial shareholder of the Company. Details of the property investment were as follows:

	2005 HK\$'000	2004 HK\$'000
Turnover	_	2,225
Other revenue	_	10
Operating costs and expenses	-	(1,318)
Profit for the year	_	917
Investment properties	_	35,000
Leasehold land and buildings	_	1,241
Computer equipment	_	5
Cash and bank balances	_	2,392
Other assets	-	111
Other liabilities	-	(697)
Net assets sold	-	38,052
Translation reserve realised	-	(859)
Loss on disposal	-	(533)
Net proceeds	_	36,660
Cash and bank balances disposed	-	(2,392)
Net cash inflow in respect of the disposal	-	34,268

The property investment in Mainland China contributed net operating cash inflow of HK\$1,035,000 in 2004.

#### 6. **Operating Profit/(Loss)**

		As restated
	2005	2004
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Operating profit/(loss) is stated after crediting		
and charging the following:		
Crediting		
Amortisation of negative goodwill	_	1,213
Charging		
Cost of inventories sold and service provided	135,292	127,828
Depreciation	12,519	2,578
Staff costs (note 7)	52,160	23,257
Operating lease rental expense for land and buildings	6,377	1,917
Auditors' remuneration	4,290	1,198
Loss on disposal of plant and equipment	6	-
Outgoings in respect of investment properties	_	303
		The state of the s

#### 7. Staff Costs, Including Directors' Emoluments

		As restated
	2005	2004
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Wages and salaries	44,659	20,159
Other benefits and allowances	5,188	2,719
Retirement benefits on defined contribution plans	2,313	379
	52,160	23,257

The Group has enrolled all employees in Hong Kong into the mandatory provident fund scheme (the "MPF Scheme"), which is a master trust scheme established under trust arrangement and governed by laws in Hong Kong. Under the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the "MPF Ordinance"), both the employer and employees are required to contribute 5% of the employees' relevant income as defined in the MPF Ordinance up to a maximum of HK\$1,000 per employee per month. The contributions are fully and immediately vested in the employees as accrued benefits once they are paid to the approved trustees of the MPF Scheme. There were no forfeited contributions under the MPF Scheme.

#### 7. **Staff Costs, Including Directors' Emoluments** (Continued)

The Group (including its jointly controlled entity) also participates in the employees' pension schemes of the respective municipal government in various places in Mainland China where the Group operates. The Group makes monthly contributions calculated as a percentage of the monthly payroll costs and the respective municipal government undertakes to assume the retirement benefit obligations of all existing and future retirees of the Group. The Group has no other obligations for the payment of pension and other post-retirement benefits of employees other than the above contributions.

#### 8. **Emoluments of Directors and Senior Executives**

#### (a) **Directors**

The aggregate emoluments to the Directors of the Company during the year are as follows:

	2005	2004
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Fees		
Executive Directors	_	_
Independent non-executive Directors	300	192
	300	192
Other emoluments to executive Directors		
Salaries and other benefits in kind	6,039	4,265
Retirement benefits	31	21
Compensation for loss of office as Directors	175	-
	6,245	4,286
	6,545	4,478

The emoluments of the Directors fall within the following bands:

	Number of Directors		
Emolument bands	2005	2004	
Nil to HK\$1,000,000	9	10	
HK\$1,000,001 to HK\$1,500,000	1	2	
HK\$1,500,001 to HK\$2,000,000	3	1	

### 8. Emoluments of Directors and Senior Executives (Continued)

### (b) Five highest pay individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for the year included four (2004: three) Directors, whose emoluments are set out above. The emoluments for the remaining one individual (2004: two individuals, including emoluments to an individual before his appointment as a Director on 12th March 2004) during the year are as follows:

Salaries and other benefits in kind
Retirement benefits

2005	2004
HK\$'000	HK\$'000
736	2,359
12	23
748	2,382

Number of Directors

The emoluments of the individuals fall within the following bands:

	rtumber er	2001010
Emolument bands	2005	2004
Nil to HK\$1,000,000	1	1
HK\$1,500,001 to HK\$2,000,000	-	1

## 9. Finance Costs

In

		As restated
	2005	2004
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
nterest expense		
Bank loans	1,097	331
Loan from a related company (note 22)	124	247
	1,221	578

### 10. Taxation

		As restated
	2005	2004
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Company and subsidiaries		
Mainland China (current)	(102)	359
Jointly controlled entity		
Mainland China (current)	5,333	1,012
	5,231	1,371

Income tax and profits tax have been calculated on the estimated assessable profit for the year at the rates of taxation prevailing in the places in which the Group operates. These rates range from 15% to 33% in Mainland China and the rate applicable to Hong Kong profits tax is 17.5% (2004: 17.5%).

The taxation on the profit/(loss) before taxation of the Group differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the taxation rate of Hong Kong as follows:

		As restated
	2005	2004
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Profit/(loss) before taxation	33,490	(1,378)
Tax liability/(asset) at the rate of 17.5% (2004: 17.5%)	5,861	(241)
Effect of different tax rates in other countries	635	492
Income not subject to taxation	(10,735)	(3,200)
Expenses not deductible for taxation purposes	8,184	4,580
Tax losses not recognised	1,286	25
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses	-	(285)
Taxation charge	5,231	1,371

Deferred taxation assets of the Group amounting to HK\$22,064,000 (2004: HK\$17,388,000) arising from unused tax losses, have not been recognised in the accounts. Unused tax losses have no expiry date.

### 11. Earnings/(Loss) Per Share

The calculation of earnings per share is based on the profit attributable to shareholders of HK\$25,420,000 (2004: loss of HK\$2,035,000) and on the weighted average of 3,287,423,186 (2004: 3,139,568,795) shares in issue during the year.

The calculation of diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31st March 2005 is based on the following:

	Number of
	shares
Weighted average number of shares for calculating	0.007.400.400
basic earnings per share	3,287,423,186
Effect of dilutive potential shares	
Share options	54,010,629
Warrants	
Weighted average number of shares for calculating	
diluted earnings per share	3,341,433,815

The diluted loss per share for the year ended 31st March 2004 was not presented as the exercise of the share options outstanding as at 31st March 2004 would not have a dilutive effect on the loss per share.

# 12. Property, Plant and Equipment

		Leasehold				
	iı	mprovements,				
	Leasehold	furniture	Computer			
	land and	and	and special	Motor	Construction	
Group	buildings	equipment	equipment	vehicles	in progress	Total
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Cost						
At 31st March 2004, as restated	1,154	3,531	63,074	5,716	4,936	78,411
Additions	-	5,260	7,855	1,973	7,240	22,328
Acquisition of additional interest in a jointly						
controlled entity	103	129	5,178	341	439	6,190
Disposal of subsidiaries	-	(1,076)	(1,340)	(477)	-	(2,893)
Disposals		_	(97)	(173)	-	(270)
At 31st March 2005	1,257	7,844 	74,670	7,380	12,615	103,766
Accumulated depreciation						
At 31st March 2004, as restated	193	1,139	28,962	3,450	-	33,744
Charge for the year	40	2,174	9,284	1,021	-	12,519
Acquisition of additional						
interest in a jointly						
controlled entity	18	9	2,425	242	-	2,694
Disposal of subsidiaries	-	(770)	(1,151)	(238)	-	(2,159)
Disposals		-	(72)	(147)	-	(219)
At 31st March 2005	251 	2,552 	39,448	4,328 		46,579 
Net book value						
At 31st March 2005	1,006	5,292	35,222	3,052	12,615	57,187
At 31st March 2004, as restated	961	2,392	34,112	2,266	4,936	44,667

Leasehold land and buildings are held under medium leases outside Hong Kong.

Company

# 12. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

	Furniture			
	and	Computer	Motor	
Company	fixture	equipment	vehicles	Total
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Cost				
At 31st March 2004	134	1,421	525	2,080
Additions	18	34	_	52
At 31st March 2005	152 	1,455	525 	2,132 
Accumulated depreciation				
At 31st March 2004	86	1,358	315	1,759
Charge for the year	29	41	105	175
At 31st March 2005	115	1,399	420 	1,934
Net book value				
At 31st March 2005	37	56	105	198
At 31st March 2004	48	63	210	321

### 13. Subsidiaries

	2005	2004
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Unlisted shares, at cost	13,000	13,000
Amounts receivable	302,320	218,016
Amounts payable	(31,653)	(31,693)
Provision	(122,190)	(122,190)
	161.477	77.133

The amounts receivable and payable are unsecured, interest free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

Particulars of principal subsidiaries are set out in note 31(a) to the accounts.

### 14. Negative Goodwill

		As restated
	2005	2004
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
At beginning of the year	4,854	_
Acquisition of a jointly controlled entity	-	6,067
Amortisation of negative goodwill	-	(1,213)
Derecognition (note 1(a))	(4,854)	_
At end of the year	-	4,854

# 15. Associated Company

	Group	
	2005	2004
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Unlisted shares, at cost	57,345	-
Negative goodwill (note 31(c))	19,215	-
Share of results	-	-
Share of net assets	76,560	_

Particulars of the associated company are set out in note 31(c) to the accounts.

### 16. Other Investments

	Group	
		As restated
	2005	2004
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Unlisted equity securities	560	28
Unlisted club debenture	7,168	7,168
	7,728	7,196

Club debenture represents membership in a golf club in Mainland China.

### 17. Other Non-current Assets

Group		
2005	2004	
HK\$'000	HK\$'000	
1,057	_	

Restricted bank deposits (note 20)

# 18. Inventories and Contracts in Progress

	Group	
		As restated
	2005	2004
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Costs incurred plus attributable profits less foreseeable losses	29,924	146,900
Progress billings	(26,673)	(140,815)
Contracts in progress	3,251	6,085
General merchandise	703	403
	3,954	6,488

# 19. Debtors and Prepayments

	Grou	р	Compa	ıny
		As restated		
	2005	2004	2005	2004
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Trade debtors (note a)	123,938	95,621	-	-
Other debtors (note b)	5,009	8,471	-	-
Deposits and prepayments (note c)	37,196	9,118	2,324	1,008
	166,143	113,210	2,324	1,008

### **19. Debtors and Prepayments** (Continued)

(a) For contract receivables, the payment terms of which are stated in the contracts and vary from one customer to another. All other invoices billed are generally on credit terms of 90 days. The ageing analysis of trade debtors of the Group, net of provision for bad and doubtful debts and prepared based on due date according to terms of relevant contracts, is as follows:

Not yet due
Below 3 months
4 to 6 months
7 to 9 months
10 to 12 months
Over 12 months

	As restated
2005	2004
HK\$'000	HK\$'000
9,228	17,411
64,336	55,679
23,705	9,220
4,495	4,921
3,923	383
18,251	8,007
123,938	95,621

- (b) Other debtors of the Group in 2004 included a receivable of HK\$10,000,000 from a former joint venture partner. This receivable had been fully provided for since 2001 notwithstanding a guarantee provided by the Company's major shareholder, Uni-Tech International Group Limited, to reimburse any loss that the Group might suffer due to the non-repayment by the former joint venture partner. During the year, this amount was fully recovered from the joint venture partner.
- (c) Deposits and prepayments include deposits for the formation of a jointly controlled entity, CITIC Quality Supervision Information Technology Company Limited ("CITIC QSIT") amounting to HK\$28,302,000. The principal activities of CITIC QSIT are development, sales, maintenance and consultation of various information technology and telecommunications products. As of 4th July 2005, CITIC QSIT has not yet been established.

### 20. Cash and Bank Balances

	Gro	oup
		As restated
	2005	2004
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Not restricted	131,266	218,586
Restricted	6,057	7,000
	137,323	225,586
Restricted bank deposit included in non-current assets (note 17)	(1,057)	_
	136,266	225,586

A restricted deposit of HK\$5,000,000 (2004: HK\$7,000,000), which has been pledged as securities for a short term bank loan (note 22), is not classified as a non-current asset.

### 21. Creditors and Accruals

Group	o	Compa	ıny
	As restated		
2005	2004	2005	2004
HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
75,691	59,940	-	-
36,823	49,243	5,635	1,695
5,791	_	-	-
-	4,185	-	_
-	1,857	-	-
118,305	115,225	5,635	1,695
	2005 HK\$'000 75,691 36,823 5,791 -	2005 2004 HK\$'000 HK\$'000  75,691 59,940 36,823 49,243 5,791 - 4,185 - 1,857	As restated  2005

- (a) Dividend was payable to the former shareholders of a jointly controlled entity in respect of profits arising prior to the acquisition of the jointly controlled entity.
- (b) The amounts payable to minority shareholders were unsecured, interest free and had no fixed terms of repayment.

#### **Creditors and Accruals** (Continued) 21.

- (c) The amount payable to related company, which was a fellow subsidiary of a minority shareholder of a subsidiary of the Company, was unsecured, interest free and had no fixed terms of repayment.
- (d) The ageing analysis of the trade creditors of the Group, prepared in accordance with the date of invoices, is as follows:

Below 3 months
4 to 6 months
7 to 9 months
10 to 12 months
Over 12 months

	As restated
2005	2004
HK\$'000	HK\$'000
43,280	32,203
3,352	3,111
1,937	1,817
352	1,247
26,770	21,562
75,691	59,940

#### 22. **Short-term Loans**

Bank loans
Other loan

Group		
	As restated	
2005	2004	
HK\$'000	HK\$'000	
11,583	44,377	
-	5,127	
11,583	49,504	

The bank loans are secured by a bank deposit (note 20) and corporate guarantee by another joint venture partner, carries interest at prevailing market rate and is repayable within one year.

The other loan was payable to a related company, unsecured, carried interest at 2% per annum above prime rate and was repayable on demand.

#### **Share Capital** 23.

	Shares of	
	HK\$0.01 each	HK\$'000
Authorised:		
At 31st March 2004 and 31st March 2005	10,000,000,000	100,000
Issued and fully paid:		
At 31st March 2003	3,109,266,000	31,093
Issue of new shares	172,500,000	1,725
Exercise of share options	540,000	5
At 31st March 2004	3,282,306,000	32,823
Exercise of share options	22,069,996	221
At 31st March 2005	3,304,375,996	33,044

On 7th November 2003 and 30th March 2004, the Company allotted and issued 75,000,000 and 97,500,000 new shares of HK\$0.01 each at the issue price of HK\$0.60 and HK\$0.80 per share, respectively, to provide for additional working capital to the Group. All new shares rank pari passu with the existing shares.

On 25th February 2005, the Company issued 550,697,664 warrants at the issue price of HK\$0.10 per warrant on the basis of one warrant for every six existing shares held on that date. The warrants will mature in 18 months from the date of issue. Each warrant entitles the holder thereof to subscribe for one share of HK\$0.01 each at an exercise price of HK\$2.40 per share, payable in cash and subject to adjustment, at any time from 18th March 2005 to 17th September 2006. Consideration, net of transaction cost of HK\$52,450,308 (2004: nil) was received in respect of the warrants granted during the year.

During the year, none of the warrants has been exercised.

The Company operates share option schemes under which options are granted to individuals as incentive or rewards for their contribution or potential contribution to the Group. At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 30th August 2002, the shareholders of the Company approved and adopted a new share option scheme (the "Scheme") and termination of the then existing scheme which was approved at a special general meeting of the Company on 28th May 1998. Under the Scheme, the Directors may, at their discretion, grant options to executives and key employees in the service of any member of the Group and other persons who may make a contribution to the Group subject to terms and conditions stipulated therein. The exercise price for any particular option shall be such price as the Directors may in its absolute discretion determine at the time of grant of the relevant option subject to the compliance with the requirements for share option schemes under the Listing Rules. The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may be granted under the Scheme may not exceed, in nominal amount, ten per cent of the issued share capital of the Company from time to time, excluding for this purpose shares issued upon the exercise of any options granted under the Scheme. All outstanding options granted under the previous option scheme remain valid and exercisable in accordance with their terms of issue. Movements in the number of share options during the year are as follows:

At beginning of the year
Granted (note a)
Lapsed
Exercised (note b)
At end of the year (note c)

2005	2004
337,110,000	87,650,000
73,300,000	265,000,000
(118,640,000)	(15,000,000)
(22,069,996)	(540,000)
269,700,004	337,110,000

# (a) Options granted

	2005		20	004
	Exercise	Number of	Exercise	Number of
Date of grant	price	shares	price	shares
	HK\$		HK\$	
Directors				
24th June 2003	-	-	0.322	176,080,000
23rd March 2005	3.175	30,000,000	-	-
Employees and other				
eligible persons				
24th June 2003	-	-	0.322	88,920,000
22nd September 2004	1.230	24,000,000	-	-
1st February 2005	2.255	7,000,000	_	-
2nd March 2005	2.525	9,300,000	-	-
10th March 2005	2.925	2,000,000	-	-
23rd March 2005	3.175	1,000,000	-	-
		73,300,000		265,000,000

# (b) Options exercised

	20	05	200	04
	Exercise	Number of	Exercise	Number of
Exercise date	price	shares	price	shares
	HK\$		HK\$	
Employees				
20th October 2003	-	_	0.3304	540,000
24th September 2004	0.3304	560,000	-	-
24th September 2004	0.3220	666,666	-	-
7th October 2004	0.3220	1,666,000	-	-
8th November 2004	0.9900	2,130,000	-	-
23rd November 2004	0.3220	1,666,666	-	_
5th January 2005	0.9900	830,000	-	_
5th January 2005	0.3220	4,000,664	-	_
21st February 2005	0.3220	10,360,000	-	-
24th March 2005	0.9900	190,000	_	_
		22,069,996		540,000

Consideration of HK\$9,215,000 (2004: HK\$178,000) was received in respect of the share options exercised during the year.

# (c) Outstanding options

	Number of shares			
Exercise period	Exercise price	2005	2004	
	HK\$			
Directors				
13th January 2001 to 27th May 2008	0.9900	21,000,000	21,000,000	
13th July 2001 to 27th May 2008	0.9900	21,000,000	21,000,000	
13th July 2002 to 27th May 2008	0.9900	28,000,000	28,000,000	
10th September 2004 to 23rd June 2013	0.3220	30,000,000	30,000,000	
10th March 2005 to 23rd June 2013	0.3220	30,000,000	30,000,000	
10th September 2005 to 23rd June 2013	0.3220	30,000,000	30,000,000	
24th June 2004 to 23rd June 2013	0.3220	11,666,666	28,693,332	
24th December 2004 to 23rd June 2013	0.3220	11,666,666	28,693,332	
24th June 2005 to 23rd June 2013	0.3220	13,333,336	28,693,336	
23rd March 2006 to 23rd March 2015	3.1750	10,000,000	-	
23rd March 2007 to 23rd March 2015	3.1750	10,000,000	-	
23rd March 2008 to 23rd March 2015	3.1750	10,000,000	-	
		226,666,668	246,080,000	
Employees				
13th January 2001 to 27th May 2008	0.9900	_	1,065,000	
13th July 2001 to 27th May 2008	0.9900	60,000	1,065,000	
13th July 2002 to 27th May 2008	0.9900	340,000	1,420,000	
20th November 2001 to 27th May 2008	0.7920	2,400,000	2,400,000	
20th November 2002 to 27th May 2008	0.7920	2,400,000	2,400,000	
20th November 2003 to 27th May 2008	0.7920	3,200,000	3,200,000	
13th January 2003 to 27th May 2008	0.3304	-	60,000	
13th July 2003 to 27th May 2008	0.3304	_	60,000	
13th January 2004 to 27th May 2008	0.3304	_	440,000	
24th June 2004 to 23rd June 2013	0.3220	2	26,306,667	
24th December 2004 to 23rd June 2013	0.3220	2	26,306,667	
24th June 2005 to 23rd June 2013	0.3220	2,333,332	26,306,666	
22nd September 2005 to 22nd October 2005	1.2300	4,333,334	-	
22nd September 2006 to 22nd October 2006	1.2300	4,333,334	-	
22nd September 2007 to 22nd October 2007	1.2300	4,333,332	_	

# (c) Outstanding options (Continued)

		Number of shares		
Exercise period	Exercise price	2005	2004	
	HK\$			
Employees (Continued)				
6th January 2006 to 31st January 2015	2.2550	1,333,333	_	
6th January 2007 to 31st January 2015	2.2550	1,333,333	_	
6th January 2008 to 31st January 2015	2.2550	1,333,334	_	
5th January 2006 to 31st January 2015	2.2550	1,000,000	_	
5th January 2007 to 31st January 2015	2.2550	1,000,000	_	
5th January 2008 to 31st January 2015	2.2550	1,000,000	_	
2nd September 2005 to 1st March 2015	2.5250	2,766,666	_	
2nd September 2006 to 1st March 2015	2.5250	2,766,666	_	
2nd September 2008 to 1st March 2015	2.5250	2,766,668	-	
2nd March 2006 to 1st March 2015	2.5250	200,000	_	
2nd March 2007 to 1st March 2015	2.5250	200,000	_	
2nd March 2008 to 1st March 2015	2.5250	200,000	_	
2nd March 2009 to 1st March 2015	2.5250	200,000	_	
2nd March 2010 to 1st March 2015	2.5250	200,000	_	
10th March 2006 to 9th March 2015	2.9250	1,000,000	-	
10th March 2007 to 9th March 2015	2.9250	1,000,000	-	
23rd March 2006 to 22nd March 2015	3.1750	200,000	_	
23rd March 2007 to 22nd March 2015	3.1750	200,000	_	
23rd March 2008 to 22nd March 2015	3.1750	200,000	-	
23rd March 2009 to 22nd March 2015	3.1750	200,000	_	
23rd March 2010 to 22nd March 2015	3.1750	200,000	_	
		43,033,336	91,030,000	
		269,700,004	337,110,000	

# 24. Reserves

Share	Contributed	Exchange	General	Accumulated	
		-			Total
HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
237,773	78,108	2,883	5,658	(253,481)	70,941
-	_	241	· –	_	241
-	-	(859)	-	_	(859)
121,448	-	-	-	-	121,448
(4,476)	-	_	-	-	(4,476)
	-	_	_	(2,035)	(2,035)
354,745	78,108	2,265	5,658	(255,516)	185,260
354,745	78,108	2,197	5,658	(259,189)	181,519
	_	68	-	3,673	3,741
354,745	78,108	2,265	5,658	(255,516)	185,260
354,745	78,108	2,265	5,658	(255,516)	185,260
-	-	-	-	4,854	4,854
-	-	161	-	-	161
-	-	(1,332)	(65)	_	(1,397)
55,070	-	-	-	-	55,070
(2,620)	-	-	-	-	(2,620)
8,995	-	-	-	-	8,995
-	-	-	3,543	(3,543)	-
	-	_	_	25,420	25,420
416,190	78,108	1,094	9,136	(228,785)	275,743
416,190	78,108	1,026	5,593	(269,982)	230,935
-	_	68	3,543	21,982	25,593
	-	_	_	19,215	19,215
416,190	78,108	1,094			275,743
	237,773 - 121,448 (4,476) - 354,745 354,745 354,745 - 55,070 (2,620) 8,995 - 416,190	premium         surplus           HK\$'000         HK\$'000           237,773         78,108           -         -           121,448         -           (4,476)         -           -         -           354,745         78,108           354,745         78,108           -         -           354,745         78,108           -         -           -         -           55,070         -           (2,620)         -           8,995         -           -         -           416,190         78,108	premium         surplus         reserve           HK\$'000         HK\$'000         HK\$'000           237,773         78,108         2,883           -         -         241           -         -         (859)           121,448         -         -           -         -         -           -         -         -           354,745         78,108         2,265           354,745         78,108         2,265           354,745         78,108         2,265           -         -         -           -         -         161           -         -         -           -         -         -           -         -         -           -         -         -           -         -         -           -         -         -           -         -         -           -         -         -           -         -         -           -         -         -           -         -         -           -         -         -           -	premium         surplus         reserve         reserve           HK\$'000         HK\$'000         HK\$'000         HK\$'000           237,773         78,108         2,883         5,658           -         -         241         -           -         -         (859)         -           121,448         -         -         -           -         -         -         -           354,745         78,108         2,265         5,658           354,745         78,108         2,265         5,658           354,745         78,108         2,265         5,658           354,745         78,108         2,265         5,658           -         -         -         -           -         -         161         -           -         -         161         -           -         -         -         -           -         -         -         -           -         -         -         -           -         -         -         -           -         -         -         -           -         -         -         -<	premium         surplus         reserve         reserve         losses           HK\$'000         HK\$'000         HK\$'000         HK\$'000           237,773         78,108         2,883         5,658         (253,481)           -         -         241         -         -           -         -         (859)         -         -           121,448         -         -         -         -           -         -         -         -         -           -         -         -         -         -           -         -         -         -         -           354,745         78,108         2,265         5,658         (255,516)           354,745         78,108         2,265         5,658         (255,516)           354,745         78,108         2,265         5,658         (255,516)           354,745         78,108         2,265         5,658         (255,516)           -         -         -         -         4,854           -         -         -         -         -           -         -         -         -         -           -

#### 24. Reserves (Continued)

	Share	Contributed	Accumulated	
	premium	surplus	losses	Total
_	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Company				
At 31st March 2003	237,773	58,318	(225,150)	70,941
Issue of shares	121,448	-	_	121,448
Share issue expenses	(4,476)	-	_	(4,476)
Loss for the year	_	-	(19,267)	(19,267)
At 31st March 2004	354,745	58,318	(244,417)	168,646
Issue of shares on exercise of options	8,995	-	_	8,995
Issue of warrants	55,070	-	_	55,070
Warrant issue expenses	(2,620)	-	_	(2,620)
Loss for the year	-	_	(22,222)	(22,222)
At 31st March 2005	416,190	58,318	(266,639)	207,869

Contributed surplus represents the difference between the nominal value of the Company's shares issued in exchange for the issued share capital of the subsidiaries and the net asset value of the subsidiaries acquired, and the surplus arising from the reduction of share capital. Under the Companies Act of Bermuda and the Bye-laws of the Company, the contributed surplus is distributable to shareholders. The Company has no distributable reserves at 31st March 2005.

#### 25. Commitments

#### Capital commitment (a)

The Group entered into an agreement with Information Centre of General Administration of Quality Supervision, Inspection and Quarantine of the People's Republic of China ("AQSIQ") and China Huaxin Telecom Economic Development Centre to form a jointly controlled entity, CITIC QSIT, with an intention to engage in, among others, the authentication service for products manufactured in Mainland China, of which the Group will hold 50% interest. The registered capital of CITIC QSIT will be RMB60,000,000 (equivalent to HK\$56,604,000), and the Group has contributed RMB30,000,000 (equivalent to HK\$28,302,000) (note 19(c)) as at 31st March 2005. The Group has also agreed with AQSIQ that the Group will make an interest free advance to AQSIQ in order for AQSIQ to meet its share of the capital contribution to CITIC QSIT amounting to RMB18,000,000 (equivalent to HK\$16,981,000). As at 31st March 2005, the advance has not yet been made.

### **25.** Commitments (Continued)

# (b) Operating lease commitments

The future aggregate minimum lease rental expense under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of land and buildings is payable in the following years:

	Group	)	Compa	ıny
		As restated		
	2005	2004	2005	2004
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Within one year	3,356	6,662	1,124	797
Two to five years	2,637	4,198	983	-
More than five years	-	1,789	-	-
	5,993	12,649	2,107	797

### 26. Notes to Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

### (a) Reconciliation of operating profit/(loss) to net cash used in operations

		As restated
	2005	2004
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Operating profit/(loss)	34,711	(800)
Negative goodwill	(20,403)	-
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries	(13,103)	-
Write back of long outstanding payables	(6,775)	-
Interest income	(441)	(274)
Depreciation	12,519	2,578
Loss on disposal of plant and equipment	6	-
Loss on sale of a subsidiary	-	533
Profit on sale of an associated company	-	(1,436)
Amortisation of negative goodwill	-	(1,213)
Operating profit/(loss) before working capital changes	6,514	(612)
Decrease in inventories and contracts in progress	2,474	26,402
Increase in debtors and prepayments	(52,964)	(60,771)
Increase in creditors and accruals	17,041	9,167
Net cash used in operations	(26,935)	(25,814)

### **26.** Notes to Consolidated Cash Flow Statement (Continued)

# (b) Acquisition of interest in a jointly controlled entity

		As restated
	2005	2004
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Net assets acquired		
Properties, plant and equipment	3,496	43,237
Other investment	2	28
Inventories and contracts in progress	12	135
Debtors and prepayments	3,413	31,576
Cash and bank balances	4,657	52,393
Creditors and accruals	(3,638)	(38,306)
Taxation payable	(316)	(2,539)
Short term loans	(3,358)	(37,783)
Minority interest	(559)	(7,001)
Exchange reserve	-	(68)
	3,709	41,672
Negative goodwill	(491)	(6,067)
Cash consideration	3,218	35,605
Cash and bank balances acquired	(4,657)	(52,393)
Net cash inflow on acquisition	(1,439)	(16,788)

# **26.** Notes to Consolidated Cash Flow Statement (Continued)

# (c) Disposal of subsidiaries

	2005 HK\$'000	2004 HK\$'000
	- 11Κφ 000	
Net liabilities disposed of		
Properties, plant and equipment	734	_
Contracts in progress	72	-
Debtors and prepayments	3,444	-
Taxation recoverable	529	-
Cash and bank balances	250	-
Creditors and accruals	(10,824)	-
Short term loans	(5,250)	-
	(11,045)	-
Release of reserves		
Exchange reserve	(1,332)	-
General reserve	(65)	-
Gain on disposal	13,103	-
Cash consideration	661	-
Cash and bank balances disposal of	(250)	-
Net cash inflow on disposal of subsidiaries	411	_

# **26.** Notes to Consolidated Cash Flow Statement (Continued)

# (d) Analysis of changes in financing

	Share capital,		
	premium and		
	contributed	Minority	Short term
	surplus	interests	loans
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
At 31st March 2003	346,974	85	4,880
Acquisition of a jointly controlled entity	_	7,001	37,783
Minority interests' share of loss	_	(714)	-
Net cash from financing activities	118,702	-	6,841
At 31st March 2004, as restated	465,676	6,372	49,504
Minority interests' share of profit	-	2,839	-
Disposal of subsidiaries	-	_	(5,250)
Acquisition of interest in a jointly			
controlled entity	_	559	3,358
Acquisition of subsidiaries by a jointly			
controlled entity	-	(2,476)	-
Net cash from/(used in) financing activities	61,666	_	(36,029)
At 31st March 2005	527,342	7,294	11,583

2005

2004

### 27. Related Party Transactions

The following is a summary of the significant related party transactions carried out in the normal course of the business activities of the Group during the year:

	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Purchase of further 4% interest of a jointly controlled entity		
(note a)	3,028	12,837
Purchase of 30% interest of an associated company (note 31(c))	56,636	-
Sale of a subsidiary (note 5(b))	-	36,660
Sale of an associated company (note 5(a))	-	553
Interest expense (note 9)	124	247
Computer system integration and software development income	-	2,439

- (a) The Group entered into an agreement on 13th February 2004 to acquire an additional 4% equity interest in Beijing Honglian 95 Information Industries Company Limited, a jointly controlled entity, from CITIC Guoan Information Industries Company Limited, a related company, at the consideration of HK\$3,028,000. The acquisition was completed on 2nd June 2004.
- (b) In addition to the above, as at 31st March 2004, a substantial shareholder had provided a guarantee to the Group for the reimbursement of any loss that the Group might suffer due to the non-repayment by the former joint venture partner (note 19(b)).

### 28. Litigation

In March 1998 and May 1999, two third parties commenced legal proceedings against Rheingold (Hong Kong) Limited ("Rheingold") and Easy Department Store Limited ("Easy Department Store"), both were wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company, in respect of alleged breaches of the terms of their respective operating lease agreements. Having sought independent legal advice, provisions in the aggregate of HK\$6,868,000 were made by Rheingold and Easy Department Store for their estimated liabilities under the claims.

Rheingold and Easy Department Store had since then ceased operations. Both subsidiaries had no meaningful assets and therefore would not have the ability to pay these claims should they become liable. No other company within the Group was liable to the liabilities of these subsidiaries and the rest of the Group would not provide funds to them to satisfy such liabilities in question. In view of the foregoing, the Directors were of the opinion that the Group would not pay any of these claims and therefore it was appropriate to write back such provisions in the accounts for the year ended 31st March 2004. During the year, both Rheingold and Easy Department Store were disposed of with nominal considerations.

#### 29. **Subsequent Event**

On 23rd May 2005, the Group entered into a memorandum of understanding with Hebei Board of Radio and Television in Mainland China regarding the formation of a joint venture with registered capital of RMB100,000,000 (equivalent to HK\$94,340,000). The joint venture will be engaged in (i) the development of digital television and multi services technology platform, (ii) visual, audio and data transmission business for the government, (iii) sales and leasing of set-top boxes and (iv) set up of program content library for digital television network in Hebei Province, Mainland China. The Group proposes to hold 49% interest in this new joint venture and as of 4th July 2005, the Group has not yet concluded any legal binding agreement for the formation of this proposed joint venture.

#### 30. **Approval of Financial Statements**

The accounts were approved by the Board of Directors on 4th July 2005.

#### 31. **Subsidiaries, Jointly Controlled Entity and Associated Company**

The following are major subsidiaries, jointly controlled entity and associated company as at 31st March 2005 which, in the opinion of the Directors, principally affect the results and assets of the Group.

#### (a) **Subsidiaries**

Name	Place of incorporation/ operations	Particulars of issued/paid-up capital	Effective percentage of interest held	Principal activities
Held directly:				
21CN Advertising Agency Limited	British Virgin Islands/ Hong Kong	1 share of US\$1	100	Investment holding
Easy Concepts (BVI) Limited	British Virgin Islands/ Hong Kong	1 share of US\$1	100	Investment holding

# 31. Subsidiaries, Jointly Controlled Entity and Associated Company (Continued)

### (a) Subsidiaries (Continued)

	Place of incorporation/	Particulars of issued/paid-up	Effective percentage	
Name	operations	capital	of interest held	Principal activities
Held indirectly:				
Brightown (Hong Kong) Limited	Hong Kong	10 shares of HK\$1 each	100	Sales of data communication network systems
Cattsoft Technology Company Limited	Hong Kong	10 shares of HK\$1 each	70	Sales of data communication network systems and related services
Easy Concepts Limited	Hong Kong	64,797,832 shares of HK\$1 each	s 100	Investment holding
CITIC 21CN TELECOM COMPANY LIMITED (formerly known as Grand Cycle International Limited)	Hong Kong	1,000,000 shares HK\$1 each	of 100	Sales of data communication network systems
Guangdong Tian Tu  Technology Company  Limited (1)	Mainland China	HK\$10,000,000	100	Sales of data communication network systems

<sup>(1)</sup> This subsidiary is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in Mainland China with operating life of 50 years expiring in December 2052.

### 31. Subsidiaries, Jointly Controlled Entity and Associated Company (Continued)

### (b) Jointly controlled entity

	Place of incorporation/	Particulars of issued/paid-up	Effective percentage	
Name	operations	capital	of interest held	Principal activities
Held indirectly:				
Beijing Honglian 95 Information Industries	Mainland China	RMB60,000,000	49	Provision of telecommunciations
Company Limited				valued added
				services

### (c) Associated company

Name	Place of incorporation/ operations	Particulars of issued/paid-up capital	Effective percentage of interest held	Principal activities
Dongfang Customs Technology Company Limited	Mainland China	RMB71,428,571	30	Operation of a platform for electronic customs processing

During the year, the Group acquired 30% equity interest in Dongfang Customs Technology Company Limited from CITIC Group, a substantial shareholder. The acquisition was completed on 31st March 2005 and details of net assets acquired and negative goodwill arising thereon are as follows:

	HK\$'000
Purchase cost	
Cash consideration	56,636
Direct acquisition costs	709
	57,345
Fair value of share of net assets	76,560
Negative goodwill on acquisition	(19,215)

# 31. Subsidiaries, Jointly Controlled Entity and Associated Company (Continued)

# (c) Associated company (Continued)

The negative goodwill is mainly attributable to the fair value adjustment to the intangible assets and properties. A summary of the financial position of the associated company as at 31st March 2005 is set out as follows:

		Carrying
	Fair value	amount
	HK\$'000	HK\$'000
Net assets		
Property, plant and equipment	41,301	34,829
Intangible assets	61,736	-
Other non-current assets	1,386	1,386
Current assets	192,781	192,781
Current liabilities	(31,772)	(31,772)
Non-current liabilities	(10,231)	-
Shareholders' funds	255,201	197,224
Group's share of net assets	76,560	59,167

# **Financial Summary**

Results	2005 (\$'000	2004 HK\$'000 163,947	2003 HK\$'000	2002 HK\$'000	2001 HK\$'000
Results	19,058 33,490	163,947			
	33,490		10,600	10,464	
	33,490		10,600	10,464	
	33,490		,		11,713
Profit/(loss) before taxation		(1,378)	(26,974)	(77,400)	(64,834)
Taxation	(5,231)	(1,371)	(82)	_	_
Drafit //lass) often toyation	0.050	(0.740)	(07.050)	(77.400)	(64.004)
	28,259	(2,749)	(27,056) 2	(77,400)	(64,834)
Minority interests	(2,839)	714			
Profit/(loss) attributable to					
	25,420	(2,035)	(27,054)	(77,400)	(64,834)
Dividends	-	_	_	_	
Assets and liabilities					
Fixed assets 5	57,187	44,667	39,751	106,273	146,264
Negative goodwill	-	(4,854)	-	-	-
Associated company 7	76,560	-	(883)	(883)	(883)
Other investments	7,728	7,196	7,168	7,168	-
Other non-current assets	1,057	-	-	-	-
Investment securities	-	-	-	979	916
Current assets 30	06,614	345,923	129,723	58,235	130,711
Total assets 44	19,146 	392,932	175,759	171,772	277,008
Current liabilities (13	23 065)	(168 477)	(73 640)	(25,449)	(81,282)
Non-current liabilities	-	(100,477)	(73,040)		(1,909)
TVOIT CUTTOTIC HADMITICS				(20,000)	(1,000)
Total liabilities (13	33,065) 	(168,477)	(73,640)	(54,329)	(83,191)
Minority interests	(7,294) 	(6,372)	(85)	_	_
Net assets 30	08,787	218,083	102,034	117,443	193,817